
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Scrutiny 
Committee

Councillor J S Hawkes (Chairman)
Councillor M J Davis (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor A Bardoe Councillor C S McLean
Councillor J Burrell Councillor M A Maddison
Councillor R M Currans Councillor Mrs J A Ozog
Councillor P Cutler Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor J A Hayes Councillor D J Reynolds
Councillor S R Jarnell Councillor A S Sandhu MBE
Councillor J Jones Councillor Mrs R F Storey
Councillor Mrs M B Kelly

A meeting of the above Committee will be held on

Tuesday 10 July 2018

at 7 pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford

Managing Director
2 July 2018



This page is intentionally left blank



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
AGENDA

Tuesday 10 July 2018

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 

To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or 
Managing Director.

3. Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 17 April 2018 (Pages 1 - 
14)

4. Urgent Items 

The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are 
any urgent items and their position on the agenda. 

5. To consider references from other Committees [IF ANY] 

There are no references from other Committees for Members to 
consider.

6. Chairman's Update 

7. Regulation 9 Notice (Pages 15 
- 18)

To note the contents of the Regulation 9 Notice for the period 15 
June 2018 to 31 October 2018. 

8. Funding of Dartford Churches Winter Shelter [Draw Down] 

To receive a response from the Leader of the Council and the 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder, regarding Council funding of the Dartford 
Churches Winter Shelter, following draw-down by the Vice-Chairman 
of Scrutiny.



9. Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2017-18 (Pages 19 
- 74)

To consider the draft annual report for the preceding 2017-18 
municipal year (attached as Appendix A to this report) for approval as 
appropriate, and submission to the General Assembly of the Council. 

10. Scrutiny Work Programme 2018-19 (Pages 75 
- 78)

To consider the Committee’s Work Programme for the remainder of 
the 2018-19 municipal cycle, as set-out in the draft Work Plan 
(attached as Appendix A).  



1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Scrutiny Committee held on Tuesday 17 April 2018 
at 7.00 pm.

PRESENT: Councillor J S Hawkes (Chairman)
Councillor M J Davis (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor A Bardoe
Councillor J Burrell
Councillor Mrs. R M Currans
Councillor Paul Cutler
Councillor S R Jarnell
Councillor Mrs. M B Kelly
Councillor T A Maddison
Councillor M A Maddison
Councillor Mrs. J A Ozog
Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor D J Reynolds
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE
Councillor Mrs. R F Storey

ABSENT: Councillor J A Hayes
Councillor C S McLean

Dartford Borough Council Officers:-

Peter Dosad – Head of Housing Services, DBC
Nick Scott – Head of Revenue & Benefits, Joint 

Service
Elaine Day – Quality Team Manager, Revenue & 

Benefits
Stephen Jefferson – Leisure & Communities Officer, 

DBC

CABINET MEMBERS: Councillor P F Coleman, Portfolio Holder for Front 
Line Services, Customer Champion & Housing

44. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillor C S McLean 
and subsequently from Councillor J A Hayes [due to ill-health that evening]. 

The Chairman welcomed Members and Officers and noted that the Cabinet 
Portfolio Holder was also in attendance.

45. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 17 APRIL 2018

2

46. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 6 
FEBRUARY 2018 

RESOLVED:

That the Minutes of the meeting held on 6 February 2018 be confirmed as 
accurate.

47. URGENT ITEMS 

The Chairman announced that there were no urgent items for consideration.

48. TO CONSIDER REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY) 

There were no references from other committees.

49. CHAIRMAN'S UPDATE 

The Chairman proposed and Members agreed, that given the substantive 
nature of the draw-down regarding the roll-out of Universal Credit in the 
Borough [Item 8 agenda pages 21-32]; that the Princess Park Update report 
(agenda Item 9) be taken first, in deference to the attending presenting 
Officer.

 

50. REGULATION 9 NOTICE 

RESOLVED: 

That the contents of the Regulation 9 Notice for the period 13 March 2018 to 
31 July 2018.

51. PRINCES PARK 

Members received a report from the Leisure & Communities Officer which 
enclosed as Appendix A, a comprehensive update report from Mr Jack 
Smedley, Operations Manager at Dartford Football Club (DFC), setting out the 
activities undertaken at Princes Park for the period 17 July 2017 to March 
2018.

The Chairman reminded Members of their agreement not to require 
representatives from DFC [or other Clubs/facilities managed for the Council ] 
to appear before the Committee; valued as such attendance had been in the 
past; but rather to consider reports and updates as presented in Agenda 
papers, together with relevant attending Officers and Cabinet Portfolio 
Holders.



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 17 APRIL 2018

3

The Leisure & Communities Officer advised Members that under the terms of 
the existing Service Level Agreement (SLA) due to operate until March 2019; 
the Club were developing and maximising the facilities and accruing income 
from Princes Park to the full; as set out in the report from the DFC Operations 
Manager attached as Appendix A to his report.

It was confirmed for Members that the update report from DFC had not been 
specifically commissioned for the Scrutiny Committee, but was an annual 
requirement [set by Cabinet] for all Clubs and bodies who managed Council 
owned facilities. Members asked that their appreciation of the comprehensive 
update report submitted by DFC for the period under review be relayed to the 
Club and noted in the Minutes.

The Chairman noted that it was proposed to continue the present 2017/18 
grant funding of £90,000 from the Council to DFC to run Princes Park into the 
2018/19 financial year at the same level [Item 9 para 3.2]. He asked whether it 
was envisaged by the Council at some point in the future, that grant funding to 
DFC would cease, and the Club become self-sufficient in terms of financing its 
activities.

The Leisure & Communities Officer advised Members that DFC’s 
management of Princes Park benefited the wider Dartford community in terms 
of an increased spectrum of activities, including the recent expansion of foot 
golf. In direct response to the Chairman’s repeated question, he advised that 
he was not aware that the Council’s grant funding to DFC for the management 
of Princes Park was due to cease in the foreseeable future.

RESOLVED:

1. That Members note the report and Appendix A as presented in the 
agenda papers.

52. COUNCIL'S READINESS FOR FULL ROLL-OUT OF UNIVERSAL CREDIT 
[DRAW-DOWN] 

The Chairman renewed his welcome to the Cabinet Portfolio Holder and the 
Heads of Housing Services and Revenue & Benefits and the Quality Team 
Manager (Revenue & Benefits) and reminded Members that the roll out of ‘full 
service’ Universal Credit (UC) was due to take place in Dartford from July 
2018. Given this significant challenge for the Council, he had requested an 
Officer report (on a draw-down basis) for consideration by the Committee. 

He thanked the Heads of Housing Services and Revenue & Benefits for a 
high quality and comprehensive joint report which would facilitate and guide 
Member discussion that evening. He envisaged a 1 hour plus debate, and 
proposed that Members be given leeway to submit follow-up questions, to aid 
a themed discussion. 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 17 APRIL 2018

4

Expected number of claimants for Universal Credit (UC) 

The Chairman began that discussion by asking Officers for an estimate of 
how many Dartford residents were expected to claim Universal Credit (UC) 
under the scheme from July 2018.

The Head of Revenue & Benefits advised that this figure was not yet known, 
only the number currently claiming UC [449 – report para 3.4 page 21]. He 
confirmed, in response to a follow-up question, that residents currently in 
receipt of Housing Benefit (HB) would transfer to UC between 2019 and 2022, 
although exact dates were not yet known. In further response to the 
Chairman, he agreed that the Council’s lack of prior knowledge over the 
precise number of Dartford residents that would claim UC from July 2018, was 
a ‘risk’. 

It was hoped that preparation of the joint report before the Committee would 
help to identify and mitigate that ‘risk’; including the specific ‘risk’ that the on-
line UC application process could pose for vulnerable residents. The Council 
was taking specific measures to identify those vulnerable residents and 
provide them with appropriate help and support through the application 
process.

A Member asked why it was not possible for the Department for Work and 
Pensions (DWP) to provide specific numbers for UC claimants in the Borough, 
given that Dartford had only one Job Centre.

The Head of Revenue & Benefits referred Members to para 3.4 of the joint 
report and advised that the current DWP Partnership Manager for Dartford 
was due to move on, but that he expected a similar high level of co-operation 
with her successor. He offered to return to the Committee and advise 
Members of precise updated figures in due course. In response to a follow-up 
question, he agreed the Member’s estimate that as many as 3,000 to 3,500 
Dartford residents would migrate to UC from HB following the roll out of full 
UC.

Supporting Residents [to claim UC]

The Chairman noted that at the national level, both major political parties now 
accepted that UC represented progress: it was the implementation of the new 
single benefit policy that was the problem. He was glad that the joint report 
focussed in detail on that aspect of the roll out of ‘full service’ UC in the 
Borough and the measures to support residents as set out in paras 4.1 to 4.4 
of the report [agenda p.22].

The Head of Housing Services confirmed the following points for Members:

 The present single claim roll out of relatively straightforward cases in 
Dartford would be extended to all UC applications from July 2018;



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 17 APRIL 2018

5

 The Council’s present HERO (Housing, Energy, Re-training & Options) 
scheme, bought in from Sevenoaks DC for 2 days per week, would 
shortly end and be replaced by a full-time DBC Housing Inclusion 
Officer (HIO) role. The recruitment of further HIO’s would be reviewed 
as the roll out of UC progressed, with quarterly reviews of the 
Council’s existing service provision;

 The Council’s on-line services in support of UC claimants was based 
on the lessons learnt on the initial roll out to single person UC 
claimants, with priority shown to ‘hard to help’ applicants.

He added, in response to a Member’s suggestion that Council Officers assist 
claimants with UC form filling; that it was not yet clear what levels of pre-
assessment support the Council would need to give to new UC applicants, the 
number of new claimants, or at what level they would enter the UC system at 
from July 2018. The support of residents in private sector accommodation 
would be a particular focus for Officers post July, and the recent re-structuring 
of the Housing Options and Private Sector (HOPS) team into the Housing 
Solutions (HS) team; primarily to meet the requirements of the Homeless 
Reduction Act; would help to meet this aim. 

In particular, the new HS team was designed to mitigate the impact of UC for 
vulnerable tenants by utilising a new triage homeless application process, 
including a new Housing HUB service of key stakeholders. The services 
provided by the new Housing HUB would be an essential element in meeting 
the needs of UC claimants; but it was difficult to estimate the specific size and 
nature of that service requirement; prior to the roll out of ‘full service’ UC in 
July. More would be known in 6 months’ time. 

In the interim, a UC working group comprising Officers from Housing, 
Revenue & Benefits and Customer Services had been established. The 
Group would look at existing processes and feedback suggestions to the 
Housing HUB, to ensure that applicants for UC were made aware of the 
Council support available and ‘signposted’ appropriately, to ensure their 
claims were processed as quickly and efficiently as possible.

A Member expressed the fear (based on his previous experience as a DWP 
Job Centre Manager) that the most vulnerable applicants for UC would 
struggle with the requirements of the new system. In particular the IT driven 
nature of the on-line UC application process. He proposed that the Council 
consider a second dedicated help point to help the most vulnerable new 
applicants claiming UC. He also proposed specific liaison between the 
Council and the DWP to identify those Dartford residents currently in receipt 
of benefits, and therefore most likely to quickly run up rent arrears, following 
the roll out of UC.

The Head of Revenue & Benefits undertook to consult with colleagues at the 
next meeting of the UC working group to see if such information was held by 
the DWP and could be made available to the Council, to help ensure 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 17 APRIL 2018

6

vulnerable applicants were identified and assisted as far as possible and did 
not ‘fall through the cracks’ as feared.
 
General Points 

The Heads of Housing Services and Revenue & Benefits jointly confirmed the 
following general points in response to a variety of further ad-hoc questions 
from Members:

 The full roll-out of UC in Dartford from July 2018 would apply to all new 
claims from residents [in addition to the existing 449 ‘pilot’ recipients];

 Dartford residents currently in receipt of means-tested social security 
benefits and tax credits for working-age individuals and families would 
be gradually migrated over to UC;

 Residents currently in receipt of HB would then be gradually migrated 
to UC between 2019-2022;

 A 2 (two) week transition to UC housing payment would be awarded to 
HB claimants who naturally migrated to UC, by awarding two weeks of 
additional HB entitlement from the date HB was stopped. An advance 
payment of UC would also be available to claimants, whereby they 
could receive up to 100% of their 1st UC payment, to be repaid over a 
12 month period; 

 The Council was actively engaging with Private Sector landlords and 
tenants over the transition to UC which presented a massive learning 
curve for all parties. It was hoped that a drip-down effect would aid the 
UC roll-out and transition processes. The Stakeholder Liaison Group, 
(including the DWP and Citizens Advice) would have a key role to play 
in educating landlords and ensuring tenants came forward and claimed 
UC [report para 4.7 agenda p.23].

Transition to ‘full service’ UC

The Chairman sought confirmation that the triage and Housing HUB 
arrangements being put in place by the Council were ‘fit for purpose’ and 
would meet the needs of new UC applicants [and residents migrating to UC] 
in an efficient and timely manner: including the capacity to meet the inevitable 
‘spike’ in new UC applications from July 2018.

The Head of Housing Services confirmed that his HS team were well 
prepared to meet the new UC challenge from July 2018, including the 
purchase of a new online software package from Capita - ‘DHP solution’. 
However, he stressed, that given the online nature of the UC application 
process; all measures deployed by the Council to meet the impact of the full 
roll out of UC; were reliant on residents starting the online application process 
or contacting the Council for help and guidance in the event of difficulty. 

He confirmed in response to a follow-up question from the Chairman, that the 
Council’s short-term measures to manage existing UC work (including liaising 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 17 APRIL 2018

7

with Private Sector landlords) was progressing well. New combined working 
practices between Housing, Revenues & Benefits and DWP had been 
instituted and were regularly reviewed to ensure that the new Triage 
arrangements put in place remained effective and continued to meet demand. 
The addition of 3 (three) extra Officers would allow the Service to flex in 
response to ‘spikes’ in demand on an initial 2 year basis to fit with the current 
additional funding available.

The Head of Revenue & Benefits added that the Council’s Customer Services 
team currently fielded all HB and Council Tax Reduction queries and calls; but 
that their current knowledge of UC would be expanded through the Working 
Group and their participation in the Housing HUB; to ensure that applicants 
were properly ‘signposted’ quickly and efficiently as the UC roll-out gathered 
pace.

A Member repeated his concerns that the simplification of the benefits system 
represented by UC (to a single benefit payment) posed real and significant 
risks for the most vulnerable in society. These claimants would simply ‘fall 
through the cracks’ of the new UC system, which shifted ‘risk’ from the DWP 
to local authorities to address the difficulties their residents were likely to face 
[claiming UC] as set out in para 3.7 of the report [agenda p.22] including:

 Adapting to the new payment arrangements;
 Budgeting over a monthly period rather than receiving 

weekly/fortnightly payments;
 Making and managing their claim digitally;
 Prioritising and making payments of rent from their single UC payment. 

He expressed particular concern for the large category of residents who 
worked up to 16 hours per week and supplemented that income with tax 
credits. This large and vulnerable benefits ‘customer group’ would lose their 
tax credits under UC and probably have to work longer hours as a 
consequence. They would need advice and guidance, possibly from the 
Housing Inclusion Officer [formerly HERO] he suggested.

The Head of Revenue & Benefits advised that the Council had yet to focus on 
the needs of the group of benefit claimant’s described by the Member. What 
role the Housing Inclusion Officer might play, and what advice the Council 
could offer to such claimants, would be considered on an individual basis as 
and when they applied for UC.  

The Mayor, speaking in her role as a Scrutiny Member, expressed her own 
concerns over the ‘on-line’ nature of the UC application process and advised 
that many residents could not use or afford the required IT to make a UC 
claim.

The Head of Revenue & Benefits said that these factors had been recognised 
and taken into consideration in the roll out of full UC. Claimants would be able 
to access ‘on-line’ and digital support when registering their claims initially, 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 17 APRIL 2018

8

receive further support and guidance from Officers in the Housing Hub who, in 
turn, would benefit from feed-back from the UC Working Group in terms of 
suggestions for updating and revising UC processes, as the roll out 
progressed.  

Long-Term Benefits of UC

The Vice-Chairman welcomed the joint report, but expressed his slight 
disappointment that the long-term benefits of UC for the Council [and all local 
authorities] had not been highlighted. The greater responsibility placed on UC 
claimants to make and drive their own applications had been addressed, but 
not the long-term benefits of UC for claimants.

The Head of Housing Services advised Members that UC represented a 
fundamental change in culture for new claimants and those currently in receipt 
of benefits, in particular Housing Benefit. Both categories of claimant now 
needed to realize and accept the fact that under UC their rent was a ‘priority 
debt’ which they were responsible for paying.

The Cabinet Portfolio Holder said that he appreciated the extent of Members’ 
anxieties over the full roll out of UC for their affected residents. He described 
UC as the ‘the new (benefit) kid on the block’ who would grow-up in time and 
be of benefit to its recipients.  He thanked the Heads of Housing and Revenue 
& Benefits for a good joint report, which he advised Members to keep to hand 
and consult, when advising their constituents.

Review and Learn [report para. 5]

The Chairman next sought confirmation that the relationship between the 
Council and the DWP was a strong one. He noted that Revenue & Benefits 
Officers were due to visit East Kent Services (Canterbury City, Dover and 
Thanet District Councils) to learn from their experience of the full UC service 
which had already gone live in their areas. He questioned whether such an 
exercise should not have been undertaken earlier, to ensure that any ‘lessons 
learnt’ by East Kent Services were incorporated into the Councils 
preparations, prior to the roll out of full UC in Dartford from July 2018.

The Head of Revenue & Benefits advised Members that his Officers had 
received a presentation from East Kent Services (EKS) in October 2017 
through the Kent Revenue & Benefits Manager Group. The proposed follow-
up working visit by his Officers to EKS had been requested but no response 
had been received to date: most likely because EKS were now in the process 
of transitioning their operations over to Civica, and the follow-up visit request 
from the Council was not seen as a priority for EKS given the circumstances.   

However, lessons had been learnt from the EKS presentation the previous 
October [2017] and his Quality Team Manager and her staff had instituted 
measures to improve the management of the increased volume of UC 
‘notifications’ [electronic alerts from DWP to local authorities advising of UC 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 17 APRIL 2018

9

applications]. The relationship with DWP had grown over the previous 18 
month period to lay the ground work for the roll out of ‘full service’ UC in 
Dartford, and quarterly meetings were now held with the DWP Partnership 
Manager. The Council’s new Housing HUB operation would also have a full-
time DWP representative co-housed in the HUB by July 2018.  

Council Tax Reduction (CTR)

The report highlighted the fact [para 5.5 agenda p. 24] that the frequent re-
calculation of UC required where a Council Tax Reduction (CTR) claim was 
also in payment; would have a considerable impact on the recovery of Council 
Tax. To mitigate that risk the Council proposed to undertake a fundamental 
review of the present CTR scheme in operation; to ensure that it was fit for 
purpose by 2019/20; when the full UC service would have been rolled-out 
across the entire Borough. 

In response to a specific question from a Member, the Head of Revenue & 
Benefits advised that a fundamental review of CTR had not been possible 
prior to July 2018, given the unknowns and uncertainties surrounding the roll 
out of full UC. The Council had engaged a consultant to undertake the review 
for a new CTR scheme which would take account of applicants who also 
claimed UC. The financial modelling of the proposed new scheme for CTR 
was now in progress, but the scheme itself had yet to be finalised.

Discretionary Housing Payment (DHP) [report para. 6]

It was confirmed in response to a specific Member question, that the Capita 
on-line ‘DHP Solution’ software purchased by the Council, would be 
implemented once Capita had completed a necessary security upgrade. The 
new software package would enable applicants to apply for DHP online, 
provide ‘on-line’ help and, in certain cases provide an ‘instant decision’ within 
agreed parameters. Applicants would also be able to ‘track’ the progress of 
their DHP claim.

The Chairman noted [report para 6.1 agenda p.25] that Councils in UC areas 
were making more use of their DHP funds following roll out. He asked why 
this was the case and whether the Council’s DHP budget for 2018-19 had 
been set to take account of full UC roll out in Dartford from July 2018.

The Head of Revenue & Benefits advised that the Council’s DHP budget for 
2017/18 was likely to exceed the DWP allocation for the year by some £ 
3,000. The challenge for the Council to remain within budget year-on-year 
was becoming increasingly more difficult: especially in the face of reduced 
DWP funding for 2018-19. However, councils were able to top-up their DWP 
funding allocations by two and a half times which, in Dartford’s case, would be 
by a maximum of £280K.

In response to a variety of follow-up questions from Members he confirmed 
the following points:



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 17 APRIL 2018

10

 The Council used its discretion to make top-up payments primarily to 
meet rent deposits and clear rent arrears not met within DWP 
guidelines;

 The Council’s discretionary top-up policy for DHP prevented applicants 
becoming classified as ‘Homeless’ and costing the authority more 
money in the long-term;

 The Council had a ‘poor case’ for lobbying against the proposed cut in 
DWP funding allocation for 2018-19 given Dartford’s consistent 
previous underspend of DWP funding for DHP in the period 2012 to 
2017 [table para 6.2 page 25].

In response to a Member proposal that the Council lobby those London 
authorities who consistently housed their residents in Dartford with Private 
Sector landlords; thereby driving up rental prices in the Borough with their 
greater funding resources; the Head of Housing Services advised that the 
London authorities in question would be resistant to such a plea. Especially 
given that they were operating within existing Government legislation. On the 
same basis, the Council were unable to insist that London residents housed in 
the Borough only received the Dartford Council level of rent allowance.

Communication & Engagement, Risks and Impact 
Assessment for UC [report paras 7 and 8]

The Chairman expressed his concerns regarding the Private Rental Sector 
market in Dartford. Both in the short-term, following publication of the 
Council’s Homelessness Review 2017 document; which inter-alia identified 
the increased loss of Assured Shorthold Tenancies (ASTs) as the principal 
reason for the rise in Homelessness in the Borough; and in the long-term, 
following the roll out of full UC from July 2018.

He sought confirmation that the Council’s new Homelessness and Housing 
HUBs would be working in close partnership going forward, to ensure the best 
possible outcomes for tenants of Private Sector landlords, in particular those 
claiming UC. He asked what level of engagement the Council was 
undertaking with Private Sector landlords to minimise the potential negative 
impact for both landlords and their tenants who would be claiming UC from 
July 2018.

The Head of Housing Services advised that the new safeguards regarding 
individual privacy and the sharing of an individual’s personal details and 
circumstances, under the provisions of the new General Data Protection 
Regulation (GDPR) effective from May 2018, presented an obstacle to 
effective dialogue between the Council and landlords with tenants in receipt 
of/likely to claim UC from July.

The Council intended to write to all known Private Sector landlords, in general 
terms, concerning tenants in receipt of UC and encourage them to contact the 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 17 APRIL 2018

11

Council before such tenants built up rental arrears. However, he advised that 
the principal risk for tenants in the private rented sector claiming UC was the 
growing trend amongst landlords to evict them using Section 21 No Fault 
Evictions legislation [whereby landlords didn’t need to give reasons] 
irrespective of whether a tenant was in rental arrears or not [report paras 8.4 
and 8.5]. This trend was particularly prevalent amongst smaller landlords 
dependent on regular rental income, and despite the fact that under full UC 
arrangements, rent could now be paid direct to private sector landlords more 
easily.  

In response to a follow-up question, the Head of Housing Services advised 
Members that definitive guidance was being sought from the Head of Legal 
Services regarding the Council writing to all Private Sector landlords before 
GDPR took effect in May 2018.  

The Chairman asked whether the Council had a General Communication Plan 
for the roll out of full UC.

The Head of Housing Services advised that a Communication Plan was a 
standard agenda item for review by UC Working Group at each meeting. 
Current elements included:

 Advertising UC roll out on Council notice boards;
 Flyers – distributed to the public at large;
 On-line advice, particularly for private sector landlords;
 Generating ‘Noise’ on the DBC website in June 2018.

A Member expressed concern over the lack of ethnic involvement in the 
Council’s Benefits Forum [table para 7.5 agenda p.26] and suggested that the 
Equality Commission be invited to participate in future meetings of the Forum.

The Head of Revenue & Benefits undertook to consider the proposal. He 
advised that some organisations received the notes of Forum meetings, but 
were not listed as attendees. He would pursue the issue and revert to the 
Member.

In response to a variety of further questions from Members, the Heads of 
Housing and Revenue & Benefits confirmed the following points;

 The Council were satisfied that the demographics of the roll out of full 
UC had been addressed;

 Advance payments of UC were a ‘loan risk’ to applicants on a restricted 
budget, but once their claim for UC had been fully assessed, claimants 
would receive a lump sum payment of UC and could then choose to 
pay-off the ‘loan’ immediately or over 12 months. These options were 
similar to the strictures of the Council’s current policy for the 
payment/collection of rental arrears; 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 17 APRIL 2018

12

  The Council’s new Housing HUB would carry the budget ‘risk’ for 
advance ‘loan’ payments of UC: feedback from the Kent Group of 
Councils where full UC was already in operation, indicated that the 
take-up rate for advances [of UC] was low.

The Chairman and Members thanked the Heads of Housing Services and 
Revenue & Benefits for their comprehensive report and their positive 
response to their many questions and suggestions.

The Chairman asked that if any Members’ suggestions made that evening 
were referred to the UC Working Group for consideration, that he be given 
sight of the meeting notes and this was agreed.

In terms of follow-up, the Head of Revenue & Benefits advised Members that 
he was due to present a [post implementation] report to the Policy and 
Overview (Scrutiny) Committee in September 2018. He agreed the 
Chairman’s suggestion that he update Scrutiny Members subsequently, 
together with the new DWP Partnership Manager, with available details of the 
UC case-load following full roll out. 

RESOLVED:

1. That the contents of the report be noted.

 
53. SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2018-19 

Members agreed the draft Work Plan for the ensuing 2018-19 municipal year 
as submitted in the Agenda papers (Item 10 page 45).

In response to a specific question from the Chairman; the Committee Clerk 
confirmed that any draw-down items not taken that evening, could be added 
to the Committee’s agenda for 10 July 2018; together with any further items 
Members wished to draw-down; subject to the approval of the Managing 
Director and the requirements, including timing, of the draw-down process as 
detailed in the Committee’s Protocol. 

54. ANY OTHER BUSINESS (A.O.B.) 

The Chairman advised Members that there would be a change to the 
compliment of the Labour Group on the Committee following Annual Council 
on 9 May 2018, and that Councillor Tom Maddison was attending his last 
Scrutiny Committee meeting that evening.

He wished to place on record his appreciation of Councillor Maddison’s efforts 
and enthusiasm as a long-standing Member of the Scrutiny Committee over 
many years. Qualities he was sure Cllr. Maddison would continue to display 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 17 APRIL 2018

13

when taking up his new portfolio of responsibilities for the Labour Group in the 
ensuing 2018-19 municipal year. 

Members joined the Chairman in recording their appreciation of Councillor 
Tom Maddison’s efforts and dedication towards the work of the Scrutiny 
Committee over several years.

The meeting closed at 8.32 pm

Councillor J S Hawkes, CHAIRMAN





15 June 2018 - 31 October 2018 
 

1 of 3 

 

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

LIST OF FORTHCOMING KEY DECISIONS – REGULATION 9 NOTICE 
 
This document lists all key decisions due  to be taken  in the forthcoming 4 months in accordance with the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meeting and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. It also lists and contains particulars of 
any items where it is likely that the public will be excluded because consideration of the matter in public would disclose confidential of 
exempt information. The reasons for going into closed session are given in each case. An updated list will be published monthly. 
 
All decisions are made by Cabinet collectively. 
 
Cabinet Members: 
 
Councillor J A Kite, MBE, Portfolio: Leader & Overall Strategy 
Councillor C J Shippam, Portfolio: Deputy Leader, Strategic Service Provision & Town Centre 
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE, Portfolio: Community Development 
Councillor P F Coleman, Portfolio: Front Line Services, Customer Champion & Housing 
Councillor K M Kelly, Portfolio: Transport and Infrastructure 
Councillor A R Lloyd, Portfolio: Strategic Council Finances & Major Capital Projects 
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow, Portfolio: Events, Leisure & Heritage 
 
All of the reports contained in this list, where open to the public, will be published on the Council’s website www.dartford.gov.uk at least 5 
clear days before the day of the meeting or, if later, whenever they become available. All reports provide details of any background 
documents which have been relied upon to a material degree during production of the report, or relied upon when formulating 
recommendations or options for decision. Hard copies or extracts from these reports can be obtained on request by emailing 
memberservices@dartford.gov.uk. 
 
This notice supersedes all previous notices. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

2 of 3 
 

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED 

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM 

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW 

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS 

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR 

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified) 

Acacia site - Project Update and 
Tender Approval 
 
Approval of tender returns and 
Capital Budget. 
 

Cabinet 
26 Jul 2018 
 

  
 

Tony Phillips, Heritage, Events 
and Projects Manager 
Tel: 01322 343269 
tony.phillips@dartford.gov.uk 

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended) 

Stone Lodge - Appropriation for 
Planning Purposes 
 

   
 

Cabinet 
26 Jul 2018 
 

Appropriation for 
planning purposes to be 
advertised post in 
principle decision by 
Cabinet. 

 
 

Marie Kelly-Stone, Head of Legal 
Services 
Tel: 01322 343634 
marie.kelly-
stone@dartford.gov.uk 

OPEN 

Dartford Town Centre Framework 
SPD - Adoption 
 

  
 

Cabinet 
26 Jul 2018 
 

Extensive public 
consultation has 
occurred on the 
approved draft SPD. 

 
 

Mark Aplin, Planning Policy 
Manager 
Tel: 01322 343202 
mark.aplin@dartford.gov.uk 

OPEN 

Housing Benefit Overpayment 
Write-offs 
 
To consider writing-off Housing 
Benefit overpayments where it has 
not been possible to obtain payment, 
where the Tribunals Service has 
exercised its discretion not to 
recover overpaid sums or where 
recovery is not permissible under the 
relevant Housing Benefit or Council 
Tax Benefit Regulations. 
 

Cabinet 
6 Sep 2018 
 

  
 

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager 
Tel: 01732 227041 
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk 

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraphs 1 & 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended) 



 

3 of 3 
 

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED 

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM 

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW 

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS 

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR 

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified) 

Write-off of National Non-
Domestic Rates 
 
To consider writing-off Non-Domestic 
Rate debts where it has not been 
possible to obtain payment because 
of insolvency, because the ratepayer 
cannot be traced or where the debt 
is otherwise irrecoverable. 
 

Cabinet 
6 Sep 2018 
 

  
 

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager 
Tel: 01732 227041 
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk 

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended) 

 
 

     



T
his page is intentionally left blank



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
10 July 2018

                                              

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2017-18

1. Summary

To consider the work carried out by the Scrutiny Committee during the 2017-18   
municipal year.

2. RECOMMENDATION

That subject to any amendments proposed by Members, the Committee’s draft 
Annual Report for 2017–18 [attached as Appendix A to this report] be agreed, and 
submitted to the General Assembly of the Council. 

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The Scrutiny Committee’s Protocol and Terms of Reference (attached as 
Appendices B and C respectively to this report) require the Committee to 
report annually on its work to the General Assembly of the Council (GAC). 

3.2. The Scrutiny Committee’s draft Annual Report for the preceding 2017-18 
municipal year is attached at Appendix A for Members’ consideration and 
approval as appropriate, prior to submission to the GAC. 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan
Not applicable.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None 

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category
Not applicable

7. Appendices
Appendix A – draft Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2017-18;
Appendix B – Scrutiny Protocol (November 2017)
Appendix C – Terms of Reference (9 May 2018)



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
10 July 2018

                                              

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Scrutiny Committee Annual 
Report 2016-17, Annual Council 
Agendas and Minutes 9 May 
2018, Scrutiny Committee’s 
Minutes (May 2017 to April 
2018), Scrutiny Protocol and 
ToRs.

July 2018 David Hook
Committee Coordinator

Member Services 
(01322 343276)

Member 
Services/

Monitoring 
Officer

N/A



APPENDIX A

SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

  Draft Annual Report 2017-18



APPENDIX A

Introduction and Background

The Council appointed the Scrutiny Committee in response to the Local 
Government Act 2000 in order to introduce more democracy into the decision 
making process and to ensure that those who make decisions are held 
accountable. 

The Committee performs the scrutiny function on behalf of the Council in 
accordance with the guidelines contained in its Protocol and Terms of 
Reference (ToRs) documents as confirmed at Annual Council each year 
(attached to this report as Appendix B and C respectively). 

The Committee’s remit is to contribute to improving Council services by 
holding decision makers to account to the ultimate benefit of the residents of 
the Borough. To achieve this aim the Committee may:

 Review and question Cabinet Members and Officers about decisions 
and performance;

 Scrutinise the performance of the Council in relation to its policy, 
objectives, performance targets and /or particular service areas;

 Make recommendations to the Cabinet, the Council etc. arising from 
the outcome of the scrutiny process. 

Work carried out by the Scrutiny Committee compliments the work of the 
Crime and Disorder (Overview & Scrutiny) and Policy Overview Committees, 
whose remits are set out in their respective Protocol and ToR documents. In 
compiling its work programme for the ensuing municipal year, the Scrutiny 
Committee aims to avoid duplicating any work being undertaken by its sister 
Committees. 

The Committee’s Protocol requires it to report to the Council annually on the 
work it has undertaken in the preceding municipal year. This Annual Report 
provides a summary of the Committee’s work undertaken during the 2017-18 
municipal cycle. 

A comprehensive record of the all the Committee’s proceedings in the period 
under review is contained in the Minutes of their meetings, as published in full 
on the Council’s website.

Annual Report for 2016-17 

On 23 May 2017 at the first meeting in the 2017-18 municipal cycle, Members 
noted the contents of the draft Scrutiny Committee Annual Report for the 
preceding 2016-17 municipal year. Members resolved to refer the report to 
the General Assembly of the Council for approval as submitted and thanked 
the Committee Co-ordinator for his report and support of Members throughout 
the period under review.



APPENDIX A

WORK PROGRAMME REVIEW 2017-18

The Committee is responsible for setting its own Work Programme for the 
ensuing municipal year and compiling an initial Work Plan for review at each 
subsequent meeting in the ensuing cycle. 

On 23 May 2017 at the first meeting in the ensuing 2017-18 municipal cycle 
Members agreed an initial Work Plan document. The Committee met a further 
four  times during the municipal cycle to consider reports from Officers on 
agreed WP items in addition to considering topics drawn-down on an ad-hoc 
basis with the prior agreement of the Managing Director.

Members considered the extant Regulation 9 Notice at each meeting which 
detailed the proposed Forward Plan arrangements, and updated the 
Committee’s rolling Work Plan as required and appropriate.

Details of the entire programme of work undertaken by the Committee during 
the 2017-18 municipal cycle are set out below.  

WORK PLAN Items completed in the 2017-18 MUNICIPAL YEAR

23 May 2017

Item 1: Princes Park – Annual Update 2017

Members were reminded by the Chairman of the long-standing relationship 
between the Council and Dartford Football Club (DFC) and the financial 
provision made by the Council to the Club over many years. The Annual 
Update report for Princes Park examined that continuing relationship and how 
it helped the Council to deliver its Corporate Objectives in terms of Health & 
Wellbeing, Community Outreach and Development. Attached as Appendix A 
to the report, was a list of specific achievements made by of DFC during the 
recently concluded 2016-17 season. 

The DFC President Mr Bill Archer and Mr Jason Outram, the Club’s Finance 
Director highlighted the following points for Members: 

 3rd place in the National League South just missing promotion to the NL 
Premiership;

 The Club’s Academy continued to operate as a model of excellence, 
together with its strong Pre-Academy team and thriving girls and ladies 
teams;



APPENDIX A

 The Club’s goalkeeper had attained full international status with several 
DFC players on the fringes of winning caps in their age groups;

 The Club continued to feed off its strong links with the Dartford 
community with players at all levels largely drawn from the Borough;

 The community pitches and mini-pitches had been used by over 30 
local clubs during the season plus 200 casual bookings;

 All facilities at the Club continued to be well used including the golf club 
where ‘footgolf’ had become increasingly popular.

Members were advised by the Club President that the physical fabric of the 
Club was good: 

 Pitch improved with drainage works;
 Previous roof leaks solved;
 Bar areas and stairwells re-decorated

However, DFC’s revenue streams did not cover its running costs and without 
the Council’s continued grant in aid, the Club would have to cut back 
significantly on its work in the community to maintain core DFC activities. 
Current community activities included:

 Academy operation based on a strong cohort of players drawn from the 
Dartford community; 

 Financing a 65-seater stand for the community pitch used by local 
clubs;

 Outreach centres in Dartford and Swanscombe;
 Free football sessions to 5 primary schools plus worked with other local 

schools in the area;
 Hosting ‘healthy living’ activities at Princes Park

Members were informed by the Strategic Director (Internal Services) that the 
Service Level Agreement (SLA) with DFC had concluded, but the Council had 
agreed a grant of £90,000 with the Club for the ensuing 2017-18 financial 
cycle, to be reviewed prior to the commencement of the 2018-19 financial 
year. 

No targets had been set for the Club under the terms of the previous SLA, but 
Members were advised that the Council’s expectations; in terms of the 
outreach work provided by DFC in the community as detailed in Appendix A to 
the Annual Update report; had exceeded the Authority’s expectations for the 
level of grant aid provided to the Club. 

Members resolved to note the Princess Park 2016-17 Annual Update Report 
and Appendix.

Item 2: Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2016-17

Members approved the Committee’s draft Annual Report for 2016-17 (as 
submitted) for presentation to the General Assembly of the Council and 



APPENDIX A

thanked the Committee Co-ordinator for his advice and support in the period 
under review. 

Item 3: Committee’s Work Programme for 2017-18

Members resolved to include the following, additional items, to the draft Work 
Plan submitted in the Agenda papers:

 To re-schedule consideration of the Orchard Theatre Annual Report for 
2016-17 from November 2017 to February 2018 for scrutiny  in tandem 
with Theatre’s published Accounts for the corresponding period;

 To retain the annual update report on Princess, given the £90,000 
Council grant in aid awarded to Dartford Football Club for the 2017/18 
financial year;

 To scrutinise the Council’s current Litter Picking contract with Kingdom 
Ltd, subject to the outcomes of the Leader’s review of that topic. 

11 July 2017

Item 1: Garden City Project – Update from CEO of Ebbsfleet 
Development Corporation (EDC)

Members received a presentation from the Interim CEO for the Ebbsfleet 
Development Corporation (EDC) Mr Paul Spooner, following his earlier 
appearance before the Committee in November 2016. 

The CEO re-visited key areas of the project in response to specific questions 
from the Chairman and other Members including:

 Rate of build;
 Increased transport provision;
 Composition of the proposed new build
 Impact of the Lower Thames Crossing proposal;
 Future shape of the theme park on the Swanscombe Peninsular 

[following the withdrawal of Paramount].

He stressed the need to connect the major elements of Housing, 
Infrastructure Development, Service Provision and Transportation of the 
Garden City Project to ensure the best possible outcome going forward and 
advised Members of the headline developments that had been achieved since 
November 2016 including: 

 Agreement for the re-generation of the Gravesham waterfront with a 
target of 15,000 new homes;

 Agreement to build a new Ebbsfleet City Centre with secured forward 
funding from Government for electricity provision -  including £25M for 
the building of a power sub-station on a 100% recoverability basis;

 Public Utility companies had been tied-into the Project and construction 
had started on the ‘Green Corridors’ that would link the various 
elements of the Ebbsfleet Garden City. 



APPENDIX A

Members were advised of specific details for the Project under the following 
headings: 
 

England’s first Garden City in 110 years 

 15,000 new homes;
 Seven new inter-connected city parks;
 New public transit network with Fastrack upgrade; 
 New university campus and research facility;
 New Ebbsfleet town centre with residential housing;
 New proposals for ‘London Resort’ theme park in Swanscombe 

Peninsular [post Paramount] 

Development at Pace

 1,500 homes currently under construction with 350 completed in 
2016/17;

 2 new Primary schools proposed by March 2021 with the 1st due to be 
completed in August 2017;

 EDC and the Council were working jointly with developers and land 
owners at Eastern Quarry to produce 4,500 new homes and 2 new 
villages (comprising 6,000 new homes in total ) with a 30% target for 
affordable homes;

 Gravesham riverfront housing scheme had been approved for 600-700 
homes with electricity and water treatment upgrades also agreed

Role of the Development Corporation [EDC]

 Single link Investment Development Programme for core infrastructure 
agreed between EDC and Government for £250M;

 Coordination of development activity including forward funding of 
electricity and water provision;

 Recovery of public investment [75%] through commercial agreements 
and Section 106 (S106) provision;

 Gap funding of highways improvements and major housing 
regeneration schemes

Ebbsfleet Central

 Major new town centre complementing the existing Dartford town 
centre and Bluewater shopping complex;

 A Health, Education, Research and Innovation Quarter to be developed 
together with King’s College and Guy’s and St. Thomas’s NHS 
Foundation Trusts; 

 3,500 new homes plus 1 million sq. ft. of commercial development;
 Facilitate the integration of London Resort Theme Park project with 

Garden City project



APPENDIX A

Transport

 £100M Fastrack upgrade including £10M seed funding for dedicated 
link to Bluewater;

 Support A2 junction improvement with Highways England; 
 Support Lower Thames Crossing at Gravesham [Option C] rather than 

Dartford;
 Support Crossrail extension to Dartford and Ebbsfleet (Northfleet);
 New enhanced provision for London Resort Theme Park 

Members thanked to Mr Spooner for returning to update the Committee on the 
progress that had been made with the Garden City project since November 
2016, and for his detailed responses to their questions.

14 November 2017

Item 1: Dartford Cricket Club in Hesketh Park - Update

Members’ were asked to note a report from the Leisure & Communities 
Officer, together with a Community Use Information sheet from Dartford 
Cricket Club (DCC) which summarised the achievements of the Club during 
the previous season. 

The Chairman reminded Members of his concerns, expressed at previous 
meetings of the Committee, over the lack of clear and measurable outcomes 
for the Council’s capital investment of £1m to construct the new cricket 
pavilion in Hesketh Park; and how that capital investment had helped to meet 
relevant Corporate Objectives for the Council. 

The Committee were addressed by the Leader of the Council in his role as 
Cabinet Chairman. Members were advised that the Council’s decision to build 
a new cricket pavilion in Hesketh Park had been consistent with previous 
capital investment measures taken by the Authority in Central Park, Stone 
Lodge, the Judo Centre, Hesketh Park Bowls Club and more recently, the 
major refurbishment of the Fairfield Pool and Leisure Centre which now 
earned revenue for the Council. 

Members were reminded that the old cricket pavilion in Hesketh Park had 
fallen into serious disrepair, ceased to be ‘fit for purpose’ and as a 
consequence, had threatened the continued existence of DCC. The Council’s 
capital investment in a new pavilion had preserved the existence of DCC, and 
provided a new state of the art facility for expanded community use in addition 
to cricket. Annual returns or measurements of achievement against specific 
Corporate Objectives, were deemed unnecessary by Cabinet in the case of 
such an obvious success story for the Council. 

Members debated both the Chairman’s view [of the need for targets for capital 
investment linked to Corporate Objectives] and the response from Cabinet as 
set out by the Leader of the Council, that obvious ‘success stories’ provided a 
defined return by their nature. Further Member debate focused on whether 



APPENDIX A

formal targets for DCC would help the Club improve their performance and 
management of the new pavilion in Hesketh Park. Other Members proposed 
that all Council managed facilities should be scrutinised in a wider holistic 
review exercise, rather than the isolated scrutiny of the Council’s obvious 
‘success stories’ e.g. the new Cricket pavilion and the major refurbishment of 
the Fairfield Pool and Leisure Centre. 

Members were advised that Officers liaised with the management of all 
Council owned facilities in an ‘arm’s length’ arrangement, whereby 
management self-scrutinised performance on a ‘failure’ basis, and reported 
back to the Council as appropriate. In the absence of any such reports from 
management, Officers had judged that all Council owned facilities were 
performing well.  

The Chairman thanked the Leader for addressing the Committee, all 
Members for their contribution to the debate and Officers for their advice and 
undertook to consider further how the Committee might usefully scrutinise 
examples of the Council’s capital investment programme in the future. 

Members resolved to note the Update report and enclosure from DCC.

6 February 2018

Item 1: Orchard Theatre Annual Report and Accounts 2016-17

Members received for noting, a report from the Leisure and Communities 
Officer, which enclosed as appendices B and C respectively; the Annual 
Report and Accounts for the Orchard Theatre Dartford for the period 1 April 
2016 to 31 March 2017; as compiled by the management company HQ 
Theatres Ltd. A Monitoring Schedule (Appendix A to the report) set out how 
the Council had monitored the provision of services provided by HQ Theatres 
Ltd in the period under review. By prior agreement, Members’ had not 
required the Orchard Theatre Director, Mr Chris Glover, to attend 
proceedings. 

Members resolved to note the contents of the Annual Report and Accounts for 
The Orchard Theatre Dartford for the period 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017 as 
compiled by HQ Theatres Ltd at Appendix B and C to the report respectively, 
and the Council’s Monitoring Schedule for the provision of services by HQ 
Theatres Ltd attached at Appendix A to the report.

 

Item 2: Review of Committee’s Work Plan for 2017-18

Members resolved to note the contents of the Updated Work Plan attached as 
Appendix A to the report and noted two further topics mooted for future 
discussion on a Draw-Down basis - ‘Go live date for roll-out of Universal 
Credit in the Borough’ and ‘Use of Council Funds’. 



APPENDIX A

17 April 2018

Item 1: Princes Park Annual Update 2018

Members received a report from the Leisure & Communities Officer (LCO) 
which enclosed as Appendix A, a comprehensive update report from Mr Jack 
Smedley, Operations Manager at Dartford Football Club (DFC), setting out the 
activities undertaken at Princes Park for the period 17 July 2017 to March 
2018.

The LCO’s report informed Members that under the terms of the existing 
Service Level Agreement (SLA) between the Council and DFC due to operate 
until March 2019; the Club were maximising and developing the facilities at 
Princes Park to the full and accruing income for the Council as a 
consequence; as detailed in the update report from the DFC Operations 
Manager [Appendix A].

The Chairman noted that the Council’s grant funding of £90,000 to DFC to 
manage Princes Park was set to continue into the 2018/19 financial year at 
the same level and enquired how long grant funding to DFC would continue 
and whether the Council envisaged that DFC would be self-sufficient at some 
point in the future.

The LCO advised Members that DFC’s management of Princes Park 
benefited the Dartford community in terms of an increased spectrum of non-
football activities e.g. the recent expansion of foot golf and that the grant 
funding to DFC was for the management of Princes Park as a whole, and to 
his knowledge was set to continue.

Members resolved to note the LCO’s report and thanked the Club for their 
2018 update detailing their management of Princes Park on behalf of the 
Council.

Item 2:  Committee’s draft Work Programme for 2018-19 

Members agreed the draft Work Plan for the ensuing 2018-19 municipal year 
as submitted in the Agenda papers.

The Chairman sought confirmation that draw-down bids which were not taken 
at one meeting could be re-submitted for the next or a future meeting.

The Committee Clerk confirmed that this was the case, subject to the 
approval of the Managing Director as the Responsible Council Officer 
regarding subject matter, as defined in the Committee’s Terms of Reference 
(ToRs) and Protocol; including the timeliness of any draw-down bids. 



APPENDIX A

 ITEMS DRAWN-DOWN

23 May 2017

Refurbishment of Fairfield Pool and Leisure Centre

This Item was draw-down by the Chairman on behalf of the Labour Group to 
examine the outcomes arising from the decision to award the management 
contract for the refurbished Fairfield complex to Places for People (PfP). 
Specifically, how the contract had helped deliver relevant Corporate 
Objectives and what positive returns had been achieved for the Council’s 
capital investment of £12M to finance the refurbishment programme for 
Fairfield.

The Committee received a joint presentation from Mr. Dave Joliffe Area 
Manager and Mr Tony Crafter Contract Manager respectively for PfP, which 
covered the first fifteen months of operation for the refurbished Fairfield 
facility. The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Strategic Council Finances & Major 
Capital Projects also attended proceedings to respond to Members’ questions 
supported by Officers. 

Members were advised of the following principal achievements made as a 
result of the refurbishment of the Fairfield complex:

 60% increase in total usage of Fairfield;
 Membership increases across all facilities;
 450,000 visits to the refurbished complex;
 100,000 gym visits;
 70,000 swimming visits;
 10,000 swimming lessons provided to schoolchildren with under 8’s 

taught free;
 94 members from the Acacia ‘Health Matters’ programme had been 

transferred to Fairfield. 

The Chairman sought confirmation that PfP had delivered on the intended 
outcomes for the refurbished Fairfield complex as envisaged by the Council in 
terms of: the promotion of active lifestyles, community cohesion, partner 
engagement, quality of service, environmental sustainability and health and 
wellbeing for the Borough’s residents, and whether these proposed outcomes 
were being measured under the contract by use of an ‘outcomes scorecard’.

Members were informed that the original contract with PfP had referred to the 
Council’s Health and Wellbeing and Corporate Plans but that no ‘outcomes 
scorecard’ had been agreed with PfP for the 1st year of the contract, pending 
the establishment of the service provision for the refurbished Fairfield complex 
in relation to demand. In effect, the outcome for the 1st year of operation was 
that PfP had met the contract specification. An ‘outcomes scorecard’ for future 



APPENDIX A

years, as proposed by the Chairman of Scrutiny, would be discussed with PfP 
to help gauge performance going forward. 

The Chairman expressed disappointment that an ‘outcomes scorecard’ had 
not been used to assess the performance of the refurbished Fairfield complex 
in its 1st year of operation under PfP management. A ‘performance scorecard’ 
would have enabled the Council to measure how usage of the new facilities 
by residents had directly contributed towards achieving the Council’s 
Objective of a more active Dartford population. He asked how that Objective 
was to be measured and monitored by the Council going forward.  

Members were advised that Sports England produced annual figures, on an 
area basis, to measure how active individual populations were. Not all of the 
activity in Dartford period could be attributed to use of the Fairfield complex 
given the role played by other clubs and facilities in the Borough. However, it 
was already clear that Fairfield, as the largest and most used leisure facility in 
the area, would be a significant contributor to promoting increased physical 
activity in the community going forward. PfP had demonstrated a 60% 
increase in usage of the refurbished Fairfield facilities, in comparison to the 
old poorly used Fairfield amenity. Increased use of the refurbished Fairfield 
amenity translated into an increasingly active Dartford population.

Members were informed that the promotion of community cohesion and 
increased focus on target groups had been achieved by making the facilities 
at the refurbished Fairfield complex accessible to everyone in society. The 
PfP report provided statistical evidence of usage by different age groups and 
the disabled. Highlighted activities had included the Chairobics wheel chair 
classes, increased wheelchair access and attendance at Health Matters 
sessions, Rebound Therapy, archery for disabled adults, junior and adult 
weight management programmes, and Walking Football.

The Chairman maintained his concerns that no meaningful data existed to 
enable the Council to gauge the delivery of a healthier lifestyle for the 
Borough’s residents; other than a simple comparison of usage numbers for 
the old Fairfield complex compared to the refurbished facility. He judged that 
the absence of an ‘outcomes scorecard’ for the 1st year of operation for the 
refurbished facility had been a missed opportunity to set goals and a baseline 
for performance, to enable future scrutiny of Fairfield on a comparative basis 
and firmly establish whether the Council’s major investment in the 
refurbishment of Fairfield was helping to achieve a healthier population in the 
Borough.

Members resolved to note the Fairfield Yearly Report for the period April 2016 
to March 2017 as presented by the Policy & Corporate Support Manager and 
thanked PfP representatives for attending and responding to the Committee’s 
questions.



APPENDIX A

14 November 2017

Dartford Festival 2017

This Item was drawn-down by the Chairman on behalf of the Labour Group.

The Chairman reminded Members that the Dartford Festival had been drawn-
down by the Committee in the past, but not for some 3 years. Following 
consultations with both Strategic Directors, Officers had been asked to submit 
a report which covered the cost, budget, safety & security and growth aspects 
of the 2017 Festival.  The delivery of community values in a bespoke Q and A 
format was submitted at Appendix A to the report. 

He asked that his appreciation of Officers’ efforts in completing Appendix A be 
recorded in the Minutes and invited the Leader of the Council to respond as 
Cabinet Chairman, with the Council’s ‘Mission Statement’ for the Dartford 
Festival going forward.

The Leader of the Council informed Members that that the annual Dartford 
Festival was the single biggest public event organised by the authority and 
that it had grown exponentially in recent years under the successful 
stewardship of successive Lead and Cabinet Members for Events, Leisure & 
Heritage, including the late Councillor Sheila East and the present Cabinet 
Portfolio Holder, Councillor Patsy Thurlow. 

The focus of the Festival (now in its 82 year of operation) had been restored 
under that recent stewardship to that of a live music event firmly connected to 
the local community, following a fallow period in the 70’s, 80’s and early 
1990’s. New features for 2018 would include a second ‘Community’ stage 
supported by a new 'Community Village' feature, in addition to continued 
quality and recognisable headline artists and local music acts chosen via the 
‘Local Bands Contest’.  The Festival was once again a fun and enjoyable 
music event, located in the Town centre, with free access to all residents and 
visitors, with increased sponsorship proposed for the 2018 Festival to ensure 
that free status continued. 

Officers advised Members that Council funding of the Festival had increased 
for the past 4 years, as set out in detail in Appendix A to the report. The 
principal cost increase had been in security infrastructure on the advice of the 
Police’s Counter Terrorism Command, following the Manchester and London 
terror attacks. The Police had assessed the Festival as posing a ‘less-likely’ 
target for terrorism than other major events in the Capital, but that 
assessment would be kept under review and further expenditure on security 
undertaken as required.

The Leader advised Members that the Council’s ‘funding floor’ for the Festival 
was that it continued to be free to patrons on entry. Increased cash 
sponsorship in 2018 would help to preserve this objective, whilst reducing the 
Council’s funding obligation. Cash sponsorship for the Festival had totalled 
£50K in 2017 - a significant increase over 2016 contributions - achieved 
through a better target spread of sponsors particularly retailers in the High 



APPENDIX A

Street, through the efforts of the Council’s Town Centre and Business Support 
team.

In response to the Chairman’s expressions of concern over rising security 
costs for the 2017 Festival; the Policy & Corporate Support Manager 
(P&CSM) informed Members that the original security contract for the 2017 
event had been procured prior to the London and Manchester terror attacks.

Following those tragic events and on the specific advice of Kent Police’s 
Counter-Terrorism Group, the security contractors and the Council’s CSU 
Officers; security arrangements for the 2017 Festival had been re-evaluated 
to include; a sniffer dog team, physical measures to control vehicle 
ingress/egress, wands to screen patrons for knives and other potential 
weapons and an increased steward compliment, at an additional cost of 
£11,000. There was no guarantee that security costs would not increase in 
future years, given ongoing security concerns on both a national and inter-
national basis. 

Members were advised that bids for the security contract had been procured 
through the Local Government Kent Portal on a 60/40 percentage split in 
favour of quality over contract price. TMS Protect, an experienced operator in 
the security field, with a proven track record, had met all the Council’s tender 
criteria and had performed well through-out the 2017 Festival process and the 
post Festival site clearance operation. The Portfolio Holder, Lead Member 
and Members who had participated directly in the Festival process in 2017 
supported Officers in their views regarding the performance of TMS Protect. 

The Chairman also expressed concern over the lack of an Independent 
Security Adviser for the Festival. The P&CSM advised that the professional 
expertise of TMS Protect and the main contractor FULL, allied to the 
experience of his  current Corporate Support Team running the Festival for 
over a  decade; ruled out the need [and cost] of independent security advice. 
In addition, the Council’s EARS/CSU Manager, a former senior Kent Police 
officer with direct experience of managing security arrangements for major 
public events in Kent, also played a pivotal and ongoing security role in the 
Festival arrangements, together with members of his CSU team.

The Chairman asked if there were any plans to attract new, fresher, 
community elements to participate in the 2018 Festival and going forward and 
whether there was a need to examine the current demographics of Festival 
patrons to ensure that all sectors and groups in the Borough were attracted to 
the event, irrespective of cost or personal disability.

The Leader reminded Members that the current Festival was free of charge 
(on entry) and open to all Dartford residents and visitors to attend, with no 
specific social groups targeted. The Council’s vision and path for the Festival 
going forward, was to maintain a free music orientated event (including local 
bands) plus traditional entertainments like the ‘Big Tent’ to include club and 
charity based contributions, with food and refreshments in a family orientated 
atmosphere.



APPENDIX A

Members resolved to note the report and thanked the P&CSM, his team and 
all Officers who had contributed to another outstanding Dartford Festival in 
2017.

6 February 2018 
 
Item 1: Homelessness Review 2017

At the request of the Chairman on behalf of the Labour Group, Members 
considered the report presented to Cabinet on 7 December 2017 which had 
enclosed as Appendix A to the report, the Council’s Homelessness Review 
2017 as the first stage in developing Dartford’s wider Homelessness Strategy 
2018 document.

The Leader of the Council and the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Housing 
attended the proceedings on behalf of the Administration to respond to the 
Chairman’s concerns together with the Head of Housing Services.

Members were advised that the Council’s Homelessness Review 2017 
provided a major building block towards the formulation of the Council’s wider 
Homelessness Strategy for 2018, together with the new Homeless Reduction 
Act 2017 which entered into force on 2 April 2018. The requirements of the 
new Act would impose significant new burdens and financial obligations on all 
local authorities and the Council’s Homelessness Strategy 2018 would reflect 
those wider realities, requirements and financial obligations. 

Members discussed the loss of tied or rented accommodation in the private 
sector in Dartford due to the termination of assured shorthold tenancies 
(ASTs); quoted in the Review as the main reason for the rise of homelessness 
in the Borough; against the background of the Government’s Welfare 
Reforms, including changes to the Benefits System. In the view of some  
Members, changes that had led to increasing difficulties for welfare claimants 
in securing private rented accommodation in the Borough, difficulties which 
would increase as full Universal Credit was rolled out across the Borough in 
the coming months.

The Leader of the Council agreed private sector accommodation in Dartford 
[and nationwide] was under enormous pressure. The situation in Dartford was 
exacerbated by London authorities (with higher rental budgets) transferring 
their ‘homeless’ families out of London to Dartford [and elsewhere in Kent] 
where rents were cheaper than in the capital. This had driven up private 
sector rent levels in the Borough, with Dartford landlords reacting to market 
forces in the shape of London authorities who could pay higher rents than the 
Council could afford for its residents.

In response to a variety of further questions from Members the Leader of the 
Council and the Head of Housing Services confirmed the following points: 

 Temporary rented accommodation provided by the Council (including 
placements outside the Borough) were was always vetted, self-
contained and of a good standard;



APPENDIX A

 No families with children were placed in Bed & Breakfast  
accommodation;

 The Council continued to carry the funding ‘gap’ in the Housing 
Revenue Budget in the short-term, but acknowledged that a long-term 
solution was required; given continued market pressure in the private 
rental sector estimated to increase the gap in the HB to some £700K 
p.a. an unsustainable amount in the long-term;

 The Council’s 2018 Strategy would concentrate on the provision of 
temporary accommodation in the short-term and meeting the 
‘homelessness’ obligations imposed by the 2017 Act, balanced by a 
long-term commitment to the provision of permanent accommodation;

 The 2018 Strategy would also ensure that the issue of ‘hidden 
homelessness’ in the Borough was fully addressed and that young 
people and vulnerable families were prioritised. The provisions of the 
new 2017 Act were viewed by Officers as beneficial to under 35s and 
single people;

 The role and engagement of private sector landlords in Dartford to 
provide solutions to the provision of temporary and longer lease 
accommodation in the Borough was crucial and the Housing Team 
continued to be in regular contact with private sector landlords in the 
Borough and to take every opportunity to re-assure Landlords of their 
pivotal role;

 Ex-Servicemen and serving members of the HM Armed Forces were a 
priority group for Council housing, including the provision of resources 
for those ‘sleeping rough’ or suffering from mental health issues.

The Chairman thanked all Members for their contribution to the debate and 
the Leader, Portfolio Holder and the Head of Housing Services for attending 
and responding to the concerns of the Committee.

Members resolved that the Minutes recording the Committee’s discussion of 
the Council’s Homelessness Review 2017 that evening and the measures 
proposed for inclusion in the Council’s subsequent Homelessness Strategy 
2018 document, be forwarded to Cabinet for their further consideration and 
comment.

Item 2: Corporate Plan Key Actions and Performance Indicators – 
Housing & Stronger Communities

Members considered the report from the Head of Housing Services which 
gave the background to the Housing Performance Indicator (PI) for 
‘Percentage of Repairs Completed on Time’ - as detailed in Appendix B to the 
report to Cabinet dated 7 December 2017. The report had been drawn-down 
by the Chairman for scrutiny by the Committee, given a reported failure to 
meet this target for 6 (six) consecutive Quarters.

It was noted that the Council had continued to set targets for repairs that on 
the evidence of the past 6 (six) consecutive Quarters, the Contractor was 
clearly unable to meet. The combined shortfall from target was estimated by a 
Member at some 400% over the 18 month period in question and he asked 



APPENDIX A

why such a shortfall in performance had been allowed to continue and 
whether the target was valid.

The Portfolio Holder for Housing advised Members that bi-monthly meetings 
were held with the Contractor to discuss on-going problems and that the firm 
were a significant improvement on their predecessor. Completion of 
emergency repairs remained good at 99%, but a combination of adverse 
weather and resident absence had been significant factors in ‘pushing back’ 
completion times for non-urgent repairs. 

The Leader endorsed the existing targets as good and realistic, and noted 
that tenant and leaseholder representatives from the Council’s Resident’s 
Forum continued to endorse them. Housing Services and Tenant 
representatives understood the need for the Council and the Contractor to 
switch resources to meet unforeseen eventualities such as severe and 
unforeseen weather, but targets for urgent/non-urgent repairs would be kept 
under review by the Housing Team. 

The Head of Housing Services advised Members that he and his Housing 
Maintenance Manager kept the Contractor’s performance for non-urgent 
repairs under constant review.  Analysis by the Housing Team showed that 
the Contractor could probably benefit from hiring 2 (two) extra multi-skilled 
operatives to clear the back-log of non-urgent repair work, but that the cost 
margins in the Contractor’s 2010 bid were too tight to finance that expanded 
recruitment. He emphasised that the Council’s Housing Stock was in good 
condition (despite the repair back-log) and that both the cost and number of 
repairs were down, and that customer/tenant satisfaction remained high. 
However, the target levels for the new repair contract from 2020 would not be 
set as high, despite the Council deeming them realistic - the current 
Contractor was missing targets by minutes not days.

In response to further specific questions from Members concerning the 
current contract with the Contractor and looking forwards, to the letting of the 
Council’s next 10 year contract from 2020, the Head of Housing Services 
gave the following advice to the Committee:

 The current Contractor could make better use of seasonal variances in 
the volume of urgent and non-urgent repair work to clear the backlog of 
non-urgent repairs [estimated at 200 jobs];

 The Contractor had a limited number of multi-skilled operatives in his  
employ and the market availability of similar multi-skilled tradesmen in 
Dartford for temporary hire to clear the back-log was scarce;

 Despite the Contractor’s performance in the preceding 18 month 
period, a 10 year contract [split into 7 years and a 3 year renewal] 
based on previous performance was still viewed as the best option for 
the Council going forward and cheaper than three separate 3 year 
contracts;

 The new 10 year contract [from 2020] would be let with the aid of an 
external consultant to ensure a fault-free commissioning and tendering 
process, feature revised targets, but retain the longevity aspect, to 



APPENDIX A

enable the successful Contractor to spread his costs over the 10 year 
life of the contract period.

Members resolved to note the further background and explanations provided 
by the Head of Housing Services in his update report on the material originally 
presented to Cabinet on 7 December 2017, and in Committee on 6 February 
2018, and thanked Cabinet Members for their attendance and contribution to 
the debate.

Item 3: Identified Initiatives Reserve 2017-18

At the request of the Chairman of Scrutiny on behalf of the Labour Group, 
Members considered a report from the Financial Services Manager which 
detailed expenditure to date from the Identified Initiatives Reserve (IIR) for the 
207-18 financial cycle (attached as Appendix A to the report); prior to 
submission of the Council’s Revenue and Capital Budgets for 2018-19 to the 
General Assembly of the Council [26 February 2018].

The report informed Members that identified expenditure from the IIR was 
initially approved by the Managing Director, and subsequently approved in 
detail directly, by relevant Directors and Senior Managers as set out in 
Appendix A to the report. Areas of expenditure approved for payment from IIR 
monies in the 2017/18 financial cycle to date had included:

 Community Grants for local organisations reviewed by the 
Leader/Deputy Leader of the Council and approved by the Managing 
Director e.g. payment to Dartford Churches Winter Shelter;

 Events managed by the Policy & Performance Team including the 
Steam Rally, St. George’s Day, Santa’s House and the Carol Concert;

 Feasibility Studies – primarily for the Stone Lodge site in 2017;
 Salute to Youth – awards programme for uniformed groups in Dartford 

reviewed by the Leader and Deputy Leader and approved by the 
Managing Director;

 Planning Local Development Framework – periodic work not in the 
local budget for necessary consultancy support to refresh Dartford’s 
Local Plan;

 Town Centre Promotions, initiatives and works as agreed, to support 
the town centre in support of the Capital Schemes Redevelopment 
Programme;

 Continued funding of THE Town Centre Wi-Fi operation.

The Leader confirmed the following points in response to further individual 
questions from Members:

 The Leader and other Cabinet Members could call down funds from the 
IIR for spending within their portfolio responsibilities, under the overall 
guidance of the Managing Director as Responsible Council Officer to 
ensure good governance, probity and consistency of expenditure 
throughout each annual spending cycle ;



APPENDIX A

 Ordinary Members could call on the IIR for monies provided the 
proposed expenditure conformed with the Council’s priorities and 
objectives;

 Local events were funded from the IIR [rather than a dedicated Events 
Budget] given their irregular nature e.g. 1914 and 1918 anniversary 
celebrations for WWI and the most recent celebration of the Suffragette 
movement, such contingency use of the IIR gave vital fiscal flexibility 
for such one-off celebratory events;

 Some recurring Grants were financed from the IIR [rather than the 
Grants Budget] when flexibility was required or awards were made 
subject to the decision of a Panel. 

The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Strategic Council Finances advised Members 
that the IIR was subject to scrutiny by the Council’s External Auditor Grant 
Thornton UK, the Council’s Internal Audit team, and independently by the 
Audit Board and that monies awarded from the IIR with the Managing 
Director’s approval as outlined above, was subsequently monitored by 
Council Officers to ensure valid spending of those monies by recipients. 

Members resolved to note the contents of the report and the additional 
comments from Officers and attending Cabinet Members.

Item 4: Council Events 2017

At the request of the Vice-Chairman of Scrutiny on behalf of the Conservative  
Group, Members considered a report from the Policy and Corporate Support 
Manager (P&CSM) which detailed events held in the Borough during 2017 
[other than the Dartford Festival] which the Council had either provided 
directly, or made contributions towards. 

The Vice-Chairman assumed the Chairmanship of the meeting for the item 
and thanked the P&CSM and his team for an excellent report. He also 
thanked the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for all her efforts on behalf of the Council 
and Dartford residents in the period under review, and asked who made the 
artistic decisions regarding music, films and plays shown by the Council in 
Central Park.

 The Leader of the Council responded on behalf of Cabinet. He advised that:

(i) Co-ordination of the Council’s sponsored events was undertaken by the 
Parks and Town Centre Managers, via a co-ordinated diaries and 
booking system, aided by the Projects & Events Officer in the 
Corporate Policy team;

(ii) Events ‘sold themselves’ and did not require marketing, but promotion 
through the ‘Calendar of Events’ posted on the Council’s website would 
be considered;

(iii)Ultimately, the Council decided which acts would feature in the Dartford 
Festival and which plays were performed and films shown in Central 
Park. However, views were sought via social media on past 
performances and future proposals;

(iv)Events were held in the Town Centre for key access and parking 
provision.



APPENDIX A

In response to questions from the Shadow Leader, regarding how the 
Council’s present schedule of events met Corporate Plan Objectives, 
stimulated Town Centre Regeneration, and might be expanded from its 
present seasonally themed base, the Leader of Council gave the following 
response:

 Businesses in the Town Centre benefited enormously from the added 
footfall provided by the events, and had tailored their opening hours to 
support the ‘Festival of Light’, ‘Cinema in the Park’ and the ‘Bandstand 
Concerts’. Food outlets, taxi hire and the Café in the Park had all 
benefited from increased visibility and potential customer spending;

 The free nature of the events programme contributed towards the 
Council’s Objectives for community inclusiveness, health and 
wellbeing. 

The Shadow Leader expressed further concern over a lack of an Events 
Strategy for the Council and a dedicated Events Team, and asked whether 
this posed a risk for the Council, and what the future direction of the present 
programme of events would be for the remainder of the decade.

The Leader stated that there was no intention to formulate an Events Strategy 
by the Council for events which were free at source. The current Corporate 
Policy, Parks and Town Centre teams had all contributed over several years 
to the development of a programme of events which worked for Dartford 
residents.  Feedback on events was sought by the Leader informally, through 
social media, and more formally by Officers through the ‘morning after’ 
feedback forms for all events. 

The Lead Member for Art, Sports & Recreation, advised Members that the 
current programme of Council sponsored Events raised the profile of the 
Town and gave opportunities to Youth and Charity Groups to raise their own 
profiles through participation in events like the Carol Concert and the Festival 
of Light.

Members resolved to note the contents of the report.

17 April 2018

Council’s Readiness for Full Roll-Out of Universal Credit

The Item had been drawn-down by the Chairman on behalf of the Labour 
Group.

Members considered a joint report from the Council’s Head of Housing 
Services and the Head of Revenue & Benefits [joint service with Sevenoaks]. 
The Leader of the Council and the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Housing also 
attended proceedings to respond to the Committee’s questions, which 
covered the following key areas:



APPENDIX A

Expected number of claimants for Universal Credit (UC) 

The Chairman sought an estimate of how many Dartford residents were 
expected to claim Universal Credit (UC) under the scheme from July 2018.

The Head of Revenue & Benefits advised that this figure was not yet known, 
only the number of Dartford residents currently claiming UC which was 449. 
Residents currently in receipt of Housing Benefit (HB) would transfer to UC 
between 2019 and 2022. He agreed that the Council’s lack of prior knowledge 
over the precise number of Dartford residents that would claim UC from July 
2018 was a ‘risk’ as defined by the Chairman; but preparation of the joint 
report before the Committee would help to identify and mitigate that ‘risk’; 
including the specific ‘risk’ that the on-line UC application process could pose 
for vulnerable residents whom the Council was taking specific measures to 
identify and help support through the application process. Regarding co-
ordinated working with the DWP over the roll-out of full UC in Dartford, he 
advised this was good but that the current DWP Manager for was being re-
assigned. He offered to return to the Committee following consultations with 
the new Dartford DWP Manager, but agreed a Member’s estimate that as 
many as 3,000 to 3,500 Dartford residents would migrate to UC from HB 
following the roll out of full UC in the Borough.

Supporting Residents to claim UC

The Chairman noted that at the national level both major political parties now 
accepted that UC represented progress: it was the implementation of the new 
single benefit policy that was the problem. He welcomed the fact that the joint 
report focussed in detail on that aspect of the roll out of ‘full service’ UC in the 
Borough and the measures proposed to support residents, particularly the 
most vulnerable.

The Head of Housing Services confirmed the following points for Members:

 The present single claim roll out of relatively straightforward cases in 
Dartford would be extended to all UC applications from July 2018;

 The Council’s present HERO (Housing, Energy, Re-training & Options) 
scheme, bought in from Sevenoaks DC for 2 days per week, would 
shortly end and be replaced by a full-time DBC Housing Inclusion 
Officer (HIO) role. The recruitment of further HIO’s would be reviewed 
as the roll out of UC progressed with quarterly reviews of the Council’s 
existing service provision;

 The Council’s on-line services in support of UC claimants was based 
on the lessons learnt from the initial roll out to single person UC 
claimants, with priority shown to ‘hard to help’ applicants;

 Council Officers would assist claimants with UC form filling, including 
those in private sector accommodation;

 The recent re-structuring of the Housing Options and Private Sector 
(HOPS) team into the Housing Solutions (HS) team; primarily to meet 
the requirements of the Homeless Reduction Act; would help to meet 
these aims. 



APPENDIX A

The new HS team was designed to mitigate the impact of UC for vulnerable 
tenants by utilising a new triage homeless application process, including a 
new Housing HUB service of key stakeholders. The services provided by the 
new Housing HUB would be an essential element in meeting the needs of UC 
claimants; but it was difficult to estimate the specific size and nature of that 
service requirement; prior to the roll out of ‘full service’ UC in July 2018. In the 
interim, a UC working group comprising Officers from Housing, Revenue & 
Benefits and Customer Services had been established. The Group would look 
at existing processes and feedback suggestions to the Housing HUB, to 
ensure that applicants for UC were made aware of the Council support 
available and ‘signposted’ appropriately, to ensure their claims were 
processed as quickly and efficiently as possible.

A Member expressed the fear [based on his experience as a DWP Job Centre 
Manager] that the most vulnerable applicants for UC would struggle with the 
requirements of the new system. In particular the IT driven nature of the on-
line UC application process. He proposed that the Council consider a second 
dedicated help point to help the most vulnerable new applicants claiming UC. 
He also proposed specific liaison between the Council and the DWP to 
identify those Dartford residents currently in receipt of benefits, and therefore 
most likely to quickly run up rent arrears, following the roll out of UC.

Other Members expressed similar fears over the difficulties that would face 
the most vulnerable applicants claiming UC in what was an IT driven process, 
in terms of their IT capabilities and ready access to IT to make then monitor 
their applications.

The Head of Revenue & Benefits undertook to consult with colleagues at the 
next meeting of the UC working group to see if such information was held by 
the DWP and could be made available to the Council to take pro-active action 
in advance of roll-out of full UC in July 2018 to offer the best possible help and 
advice to vulnerable applicants.

General Points 

The Heads of Housing Services and Revenue & Benefits, jointly confirmed the 
following general points in response to a variety of further ad-hoc questions 
from Members:

 The full roll-out of UC in Dartford from July 2018 would apply to all new 
claims from residents [in addition to the existing 449 ‘pilot’ recipients];

 Dartford residents currently in receipt of means-tested social security 
benefits and tax credits for working-age individuals and families would 
be gradually migrated over to UC;

 Residents currently in receipt of HB would be gradually migrated to UC 
between 2019-2022;

 A two week ‘transition payment’ would be awarded to HB claimants 
who naturally migrated to UC by awarding two weeks of additional HB 
entitlement from the date HB was stopped;



APPENDIX A

 An advance payment of UC would also be made available to claimants 
whereby they could receive up to 100% of their 1st UC payment with 
repayment defrayed over a 12 month period;

 The Council was actively engaged with Private Sector landlords and 
tenants over the transition to UC which presented a massive learning 
curve for all parties;

 The Stakeholder Liaison Group, including the DWP and Citizens 
Advice, would have a key role to play in educating landlords and 
ensuring tenants came forward and claimed UC.

Transition to ‘full service’ UC

The Head of Housing Services informed Members that his HS team were well 
prepared to meet the IT challenge presented by the full roll-out of UC from 
July 2018 with the purchase of a new online software package from Capita - 
‘DHP solution’. However, he stressed, that given the online nature of the UC 
application process, ultimately the Council were reliant on residents initiating 
their on-line applications or contacting the Council for help and guidance to do 
so in the event of difficulty. 

He advised in response to a follow-up question from the Chairman; that the 
Council’s short-term measures to manage existing UC work (including liaising 
with Private Sector landlords) was progressing well. New combined working 
practices between Housing, Revenues & Benefits and DWP had been 
instituted and were regularly reviewed to ensure that the new Triage 
arrangements that had been put in put in place remained effective, and 
continued to meet demand. Additional funding had been made available for 
three extra Officers on an initial 2 year basis, to allow the Service to ‘flex’ in 
response to ‘spikes’ in demand.

The Head of Revenue & Benefits added that the Council’s Customer Services 
team currently fielded all HB and Council Tax Reduction queries and calls. 
The team’s existing knowledge of UC would be expanded through the 
Working Group and their participation in the Housing HUB, and ensure that 
applicants were properly ‘signposted’ quickly and efficiently, as the UC roll-out 
gathered pace from July 2018.

Review and Learn 

The Chairman sought confirmation from Officers that the relationship between 
the Council and the DWP was a strong one that would deliver the best 
possible outcomes for Dartford residents as UC was fully rolled-out in the 
coming months. 

The Head of Revenue & Benefits advised Members that his Managers had 
received a presentation from East Kent Services (EKS) in October 2017 via 
the Kent Revenue & Benefits Manager Group. A proposed follow-up working 
visit for Officers to EKS had been delayed whilst EKS transferred their 
operation to Civica, but lessons had been learned from the EKS presentation 
in the October which had enabled his Quality Team Manager and her staff to 
institute measures to improve the management of the increased volume of UC 



APPENDIX A

‘notifications’ - electronic alerts from DWP to local authorities advising of UC 
applications. The relationship with DWP had grown over the previous 18 
month period to lay the ground work for the roll out of ‘full service’ UC in 
Dartford, aided by quarterly meetings with the DWP Partnership Manager. 
The Council’s new Housing HUB operation would also have a full-time DWP 
representative co-housed in the HUB by July 2018.  

Council Tax Reduction (CTR)

The Head of Revenue & Benefits advised Members that the frequent re-
calculation of UC required where a Council Tax Reduction (CTR) claim was 
also in payment; would have a considerable impact on the recovery of Council 
Tax. To mitigate that ‘risk’ the Council proposed to undertake a fundamental 
review of the present CTR scheme in operation, to ensure that it was fit for 
purpose by 2019/20, when the full UC service would have been rolled-out 
across the entire Borough.  A fundamental review of CTR had not been 
possible prior to July 2018, because of the previous unknowns and 
uncertainties surrounding the roll out of full UC in Dartford. The Council had 
engaged a consultant to undertake the review for a new CTR scheme, which 
would take account of applicants who also claimed UC. The financial 
modelling for the proposed new CTR scheme was now in progress, but the 
scheme itself had yet to be finalised.

Discretionary Housing Payment (DHP) 

The Head of Revenue & Benefits informed Members that the Capita on-line 
‘DHP Solution’ software purchased by the Council would be implemented 
once Capita had completed a necessary security upgrade. The new software 
package would enable applicants to apply for DHP online, provide ‘on-line’ 
help and, in certain cases, provide an ‘instant decision’ within agreed 
parameters. Applicants would also be able to ‘track’ the progress of their DHP 
claim. 

Members were advised that the Council’s DHP budget for 2017/18 was likely 
to exceed the DWP allocation for the year by some £3,000 and that the 
challenge for the Council [and all local authorities] to remain within budget 
year-on-year was becoming increasingly more difficult in the face of reduced 
DWP funding for 2018-19. However, councils were able to top-up their DWP 
funding allocations by two and a half times which, in Dartford’s case, would be 
by a maximum of £280K.

In response to a variety of follow-up questions from Members the following 
points were confirmed by Officers:

 The Council used its discretion to make top-up payments primarily to 
meet rent deposits and clear rent arrears not met within DWP 
guidelines;

 The Council’s discretionary top-up policy for DHP prevented applicants 
becoming classified as ‘Homeless’ and costing the authority more 
money in the long-term;



APPENDIX A

 The Council had a ‘poor case’ for lobbying against the proposed cut in 
the DWP funding allocation for DHP for 2018-19, given Dartford’s 
consistent underspend of DWP funding for DHP in the period 2012 to 
2017.

Communication & Engagement, Risks and Impact 
Assessment for UC 

The Chairman expressed his concerns, and sought re-assurances from 
Officers, regarding the Private Rental Sector market in Dartford. Both in the 
short-term, following publication of the Council’s Homelessness Review 2017 
document; which inter-alia identified the increased loss of Assured Shorthold 
Tenancies (ASTs) as the principal reason for the rise in Homelessness in the 
Borough; and in the long-term following the roll out of full UC from July 2018.

The Head of Housing Services advised Members that with effect from May 
2018 new safeguards regarding individual privacy and the sharing of an 
individual’s personal details and circumstances under the provisions of the 
General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) presented an obstacle to 
effective dialogue between the Council and landlords with tenants in receipt of 
or likely to claim UC from July 2018. Subject to definitive guidance from the 
Council’s Head of Legal Services; the Council proposed to write to all known 
Private Sector landlords in general terms concerning tenants in receipt of UC 
to encourage landlords to contact the Council before such tenants built up 
rental arrears. It was hoped that this proposed action by the Council would 
assist tenants in receipt of UC in the future. 

However, he also advised that the principal risk for tenants in the private 
rented sector claiming UC was the growing trend amongst landlords to evict 
them using Section 21 No Fault Evictions legislation: whereby landlords didn’t 
need to give reasons for eviction, irrespective of whether a tenant was in 
rental arrears or not. This trend was particularly prevalent amongst smaller 
landlords dependent on regular rental income, and despite the fact that under 
full UC arrangements, rent could now be paid direct to private sector landlords 
more easily.  

The Head of Housing Services also confirmed for the Chairman, that the 
Council’s Communication Plan for the roll-out of full UC was reviewed by the 
UC Working Group at every meeting as a stock item. Current elements of the 
Plan included:

 Advertising UC roll out on Council notice boards;
 Flyers – distributed to the public at large;
 On-line advice, particularly for private sector landlords;
 Generating ‘Noise’ on the DBC website [from June 2018].

In response to a variety of further questions from Members, the Heads of 
Housing Services and Revenue & Benefits confirmed the following points:

 The Council was satisfied that the demographics of the roll out of full 
UC had been addressed;



APPENDIX A

 Advance payments of UC were a ‘loan risk’ to applicants on a restricted 
budget, but once their claim for UC had been fully assessed claimants 
would receive a lump sum payment of UC and could then choose to 
pay-off the ‘loan’ immediately or over 12 months : options similar to the 
strictures of the Council’s current policy for the payment/collection of 
rental arrears; 

 The Council’s new Housing HUB would carry the budget ‘risk’ for 
advance ‘loan’ payments of UC - feedback from the Kent Group of 
Councils (where full UC was already in operation) indicated that the 
take-up rate for ‘loans’ [advances of UC] was low.

The Chairman thanked the Heads of Housing Services and Revenue & 
Benefits for their comprehensive report and their positive response to the 
many questions and suggestions posed by Members. He asked that 
Member’s suggestions made that evening be referred to the UC Working 
Group for their future consideration, and that he be given sight of the notes of 
those subsequent meetings, a request Officers noted.

The Head of Revenue & Benefits advised Members that he was due to 
present a [post implementation] report to the Policy and Overview (Scrutiny) 
Committee in September 2018 and agreed the Chairman’s suggestion that he 
update Scrutiny Members subsequently. The presence of the new DWP 
Partnership Manager for Dartford, together with details of the UC case-load 
post full roll out in July was also noted.

Members resolved to note the contents of the report and expressed their 
thanks and appreciation to the Head of Housing Services and the Head of 
Revenue and Benefits for their comprehensive report and positive answers to 
their questions and concerns.





 

November 2017 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

1 

 
 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE PROTOCOL  
 
A ‘local government matter’ is defined as a matter which relates to the discharge of any function of the 
authority, affects all or part of the electoral area for which the Member is elected or any person who 
lives or works in that area and is not an ‘excluded matter’ 
 
  
Introduction This Protocol recognises the division of executive and non-executive roles 

and responsibilities, the scrutiny role performed by non-executive 
Councillors and the part played by all Councillors in representing local 
communities. 

 
  
Terms of Reference To contribute to improving Council services by holding decision makers to 

account which ultimately benefits residents of the Borough of Dartford. 
 

  
Guidelines (a) Terms of Reference agreed by the General Assembly of the  Council 

(the GAC); 
 (b) Standing Orders and Financial Regulations; 
 (c) Codes of Conduct; 
 (d) Secretary of State guidance issued from time to time. 

 
  
Committee 
accountability 

To the Council as the ultimate decision making body from which all of the 
other elements in the decision-making process derive their authority. 
 

  
Elected Member 
accountability 

Individual elected Members have a collective responsibility for the 
Council's functions.  This collective responsibility extends to a duty to 
ensure that the Council complies with the law and does not knowingly act 
unlawfully. 

 
  
Compliance 
principles 

The Committee will: 
 Scrutinise and monitor the performance of the Cabinet, Officers and 

partner authorities in implementing decisions in line with the 
Council’s Strategic and Policy Framework; 

  Recognise the legitimate right of the Cabinet to provide political and 
operational leadership to the Council and will not attempt to usurp 
the power vested in the Cabinet by the GAC; 

  Recognise that Officers continue to owe a duty to all Members of the 
Council; 

  Guarantee the right of Officers to express their advice on matters 
within their areas of responsibility, particularly (but not exclusively) 
on technical professional issues.  Officers must not be pressurised to 
change their advice to suit political aspirations.  Questions to Officers 
must be within Officers' remit and will as far as possible be confined 
to questions of fact and explanation relating to policies and decisions 
within Officers' remit; 

  Will not criticise or adversely comment on any individual Officer by 
name; 



 

November 2017 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

2 

  Not attempt to thwart the Cabinet by engaging in vexatious or 
unnecessarily repetitive overview and scrutiny activities. 

 
  
Membership Committee membership cannot include any Cabinet member. 
  

The Scrutiny Process  

In accordance with its Terms of Reference, the Committee can only discharge scrutiny functions relating o
any local government matter, but excluding crime and disorder/community safety functions. 

 
  
1.What may be 
scrutinised 

 

1.1 decisions made and/or actions taken in connection with the discharge of 
any of the Council’s and/or Cabinet’s functions; 
 

1.2 performance of the Cabinet, Officers, Committees, Boards and Panels 
whether generally or in relation to service plans and targets, or in relation 
to particular decisions, initiatives or projects; 
 
NB: scrutiny will not focus on day to day management and operational 
decisions, which are the proper concerns of Council managers and 
Officers. 
 

1.3 performance of the Council in relation to policy and budgetary objectives, 
performance targets and/or particular service areas; 
 

1.4 any matter which affects the Borough of Dartford and its inhabitants;  
 

 any matter relating to the planning, provision and operation of health 
services in the Borough of Dartford by a local health service body (i.e. 
NHS Foundation trust etc.); 
 

1.5 the planning, provision, operation and performance of other public 
bodies/organisations whose services affect the Borough; 
 

1.6 Councillor Calls for Action (CCfAs); 
 

1.7 local improvement targets.  
 

  



 

November 2017 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

3 

A.Draw downs Draw downs for the purposes of scrutinising decisions/actions of the 
Council, Cabinet etc. and/or the scrutiny/of the effects/outcomes of a 
decision post implementation 

 
A.1 For each meeting of the Committee: 

 
� through the Shadow Chairman of the Committee, up to three items in 

total for the Political Group on the Council forming the administration on 
the Council; 

 
 � through the Chairman of the Committee, up to three items in total for the 

Political Group on the Council forming the largest party in opposition on 
the Council; 

 
 � through the Chairman of the Committee, one item only for any other 

Political Groups on the Council, dealt with on a ‘first come first served 
basis’. 

 
A.2 Subject to section A.6 of this Protocol, each Committee meeting may draw 

down for scrutiny purposes, no more than seven items in total.  These 
seven items may comprise a combination of items relating respectively, to a 
Call-in, CCfA, the scrutiny of decision(s)/actions of the Cabinet/Officers, 
local improvement targets, local health service body etc.  Whatever 
combination is applied, the Committee is restricted to the scrutiny of seven 
items in total, per Committee meeting. 

 
A.3 (a) A draw down(s) must be on written notice to Member Services by no 

later than noon on the 16th day before a Committee meeting i.e. 16 
clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 24 hours running from 
midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays and the day 
on which the meeting is held). 

 
 (b) The need (if any) for participant representatives to appear before the 

Committee will be notified to Member Services by no later than noon 
on the 16th day before a Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' 
(sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 24 hours running from midnight to 
midnight excluding bank and public holidays and the day on which the 
meeting is held). 

 
A.4 Where the Committee wish to scrutinise an item for the purposes of 

examining the effect and outcomes of a decision/action etc. post 
implementation, drawing down the item may need to be delayed to a future 
date.  

 
 NB: The focus of the scrutiny in such circumstances will be concerned with 

the effects and outcomes of the decision whether or not reference was 
made to effects or outcomes (potential or perceived) in any 
background document before the Committee. 

 



 

November 2017 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

4 

  
A.5 When more than one Political Group on the Council notifies a draw down of 

the same item, the Political Group which first gave notice in accordance 
with section A.1 of this Protocol, will lead at the meeting, on the discussion 
of the item and the Chairman will exercise his/her discretion about the right 
of the Political Groups to sum up. 

 
A.6 Although Scrutiny Committee and the Policy Overview Committee have 

different roles and responsibilities, the remit of the Committees may on 
occasions overlap.  Whilst draw downs and work programmes will need to 
have flexibility and their own broader topics and focus, the Scrutiny 
Committee will avoid any duplication in work programme activities and draw 
downs. 

  

B. Requests for 
information 

 

B.1 Any Committee member may make requests for information, on written 
notice to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th day before 
the Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods 
of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public 
holidays and the day on which the meeting is held) and the following will 
apply.  The request for information will: 
 

  detail the item(s) to be drawn down, supported by reasons for the draw 
down(s); 

 
  the nature of the information requested e.g. a full report, background 

information, research, data, statistics, etc.; 
 

  if applicable, identify the need for participants (Members, Officers and/or 
other external participants) to appear before the Committee (refer to the 
general principles on participation detailed in section D of this Protocol); 

 
  provide an indication if at all possible, of the questions and the likely 

topics to be raised on the item(s); 
 

  provide an indication if at all possible, of whether the request for 
information is for the purposes of informing the debate or for the 
purposes of putting questions to participants. 

 
B.2 On receipt of a request for information, Member Services will notify the 

Managing Director and link officer of the partner organisation.  Where the 
request for information relates to a Cabinet decision/action, the Managing 
Director and the Cabinet Chairman will be notified accordingly.  
 

  



 

November 2017 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

5 

  
B.3 Where information requested is readily available and routinely collected, it 

will be provided within 14 days of receipt of the request, save that if some 
or all the information cannot reasonable be provided within the 14 day 
period, the information will be provided as soon as reasonably possible and 
in any event, no later than 7 clear days’ (seven weekdays i.e. 7 periods of 
24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public 
holidays and the day on which the meeting is held).   
 

B.4 Information will be depersonalised, unless the identification of an individual 
is necessary or appropriate in order to enable the Committee to properly 
exercise its powers or disclosure is permitted by or under the Data 
Protection Act 1998.   

B.5 Information will not include matters reasonably likely to prejudice legal 
proceedings or current or future operations of the Council, Cabinet etc. 
 

B.6 Information will not include matters reasonably likely to constitute a breach 
of confidence actionable by any person. 
 

B.7 Schedule 12A, Parts 1-3 of the Local Government Act 1972 as regards the 
categories of exempt information, reg.5 of the Local Authorities (Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees) (England) Regulations 2012, reg.26 of the Local 
Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health 
Scrutiny) Regulations 2013) and Standing Order 46(2) as regards 
confidential information, will apply to the proceedings of the Committee. 

B.8 The scrutiny of an item may need to be deferred pending the receipt of 
information, particularly where requests for additional information are made 
or where the information requested is voluminous and/or where there are 
costs implications associated with providing the information.  In these 
circumstances, Member Services will advise the Committee Chairman 
accordingly. 
 

B.9 To facilitate the scrutiny process, a partner authority (as defined in Chapter 
1 of Part 5 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 
2007 (as amended) is under a duty to pro-actively provide information to 
the Committee on request (reg.4 of the Local Authorities (Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees) (England) (Regulations 2012). 

C. Call-in of Cabinet 
decisions 

 

C.1 This Call-in procedure will be operated in such a way as not to have a 
concomitant negative effect on the efficiency of Cabinet decision-making. 
 
This Call-in procedure will only apply to Cabinet decisions/actions, subject 
to the restrictions/limitations detailed in sections C.8, C.9, C.11, C.13, C15 
and C.16 of this Protocol. 
 

C.2 (a) Call-in will be by five Members of the Committee (involving 
representation of at least two political groups), in writing, to Member 
Services by no later than noon on the day before the Cabinet meeting.  
Member Services will notify the Cabinet Chairman of the Call-in. 
 

 
 



 

November 2017 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

6 

 (b) Once a member of the Committee has signed a Call-in, he/she may 
not do so again until a period of six months has expired. 

 
C.3 A special meeting of the Committee may be called in accordance with the 

rules detailed in Standing Order 27 (Special Meetings of the Cabinet, 
Committees and Boards) and will be held before the next meeting of the 
Cabinet (Cabinet meetings are scheduled on a four weekly basis), with a 
view to reporting to the next Cabinet meeting. Where it is not possible for 
the Committee to report to the next Cabinet meeting, the Committee 
Chairman will consult with the Cabinet Chairman and agree a date for 
referring the Call-in back to the Cabinet for consideration/reconsideration. 
 
Referring the Call-in back to the Cabinet will not be delayed by more than 4 
weeks from the date of the notice of Call-in. 

 
C.4 Once a Call-in has been effected, the Cabinet may at its discretion, either: 

 
 (a) defer consideration of the proposed decision and/or action (the 

Deferred Decision) to its next scheduled meeting or where it is not 
possible for the Committee to report to the next scheduled meeting of 
the Cabinet, defer consideration until receipt of the Committee's report; 
or 

 (b) take the decision and/or action which decision/action will stand as 
suspended (the Suspended Decision) until the next scheduled meeting 
of the Cabinet or where the Call-in is referred to the GAC by the 
Committee, until referred back to the Cabinet by the GAC for 
reconsideration. 

 
C.5 Following consideration of the Call-in, the Committee will, on a report 

(setting out the Committee's concerns, recommendations, conclusions, 
suggestions and/or comments), either refer the Deferred 
Decision/Suspended Decision back to the Cabinet for 
consideration/reconsideration, or request a debate on the Call-in at the next 
ordinary meeting of the GAC, or if necessary, at an extraordinary meeting 
of the GAC, but subject to the rules detailed in Standing Order 1.(3) on the 
convening of extraordinary meetings. 

 
C.6 On receipt of the Committee's report; 

 
 (a) the Cabinet will consider/reconsider the Deferred Decision/ 

Suspended Decision and the contents of the Committee's report 
before coming to a final decision. Providing the Deferred 
Decision/Suspended Decision is not contrary to the budget or policy 
framework, the Cabinet may or may not amend the Deferred 
Decision/Suspended Decision before reaching a final decision and 
implementing it; or 

 (b) the GAC will consider the Call-in and may object to the Deferred 
Decision/Suspended Decision in which case the Deferred 
Decision/Suspended Decision will be referred back to the Cabinet 
(with the GAC's views) for consideration/reconsideration.  Unless the 
Deferred Decision/Suspended Decision is contrary to the budget or 
policy framework, the Cabinet may choose whether to amend the 
Deferred Decision/Suspended Decision or not before reaching a final 
decision and implementing it. 

 
 NB:  The GAC has no locus to make a decision in respect of a Cabinet 

decision unless the Cabinet decision is contrary to or not wholly 
consistent with the budget or policy framework agreed/adopted by the 
Council. 

 



 

November 2017 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

7 

  
C.7 Following the Cabinet's consideration of a Deferred Decision or 

reconsideration of a Suspended Decision, the decisions(s) will take effect 
i.e. be implemented immediately. In addition, a Suspended Decision will 
become effective: 

 
 (a) on the date of the GAC meeting where the Call-in has been referred to 

the GAC and the GAC does not object to the Suspended Decision 
and/or does not refer the Suspended Decision back to the Cabinet. 

 
 (b) on the date of the Committee meeting, where the Committee does not 

refer the Suspended Decision back to the Cabinet or to the GAC.  
 

C.8 A Call-in (i.e. the decision itself) cannot be the subject of further scrutiny 
after implementation, pursuant to the draw down mechanism detailed in 
section A of this Protocol. 

 
 NB: This restriction does not preclude a subsequent draw-down of the 

subject matter of the decision for purposes related for example, to 
topic scrutiny or reporting on matters of local concern. 

 
C.9 This Call-in procedure will not apply to urgent Cabinet decisions and/or 

action to be taken by the Cabinet which need to be implemented urgently.  
The definition of 'urgency' means any matter of immediate urgency (i.e. 
where any delay likely to be caused by the Call-in would prejudice the 
Council's or the public's interest), making the prompt exercise of the 
powers of the Cabinet, in consultation with the Managing Director and the 
Monitoring Officer/Chief Finance Officer desirable and/or necessary and 
which cannot await the next meeting of the Cabinet, or the next ordinary 
meeting of the GAC. 

 
 NB: The definition of 'urgency' as detailed above, excludes urgent key 

decisions under Standing Order 54(8) (Special Urgency) and urgent 
departure decisions under Standing Order 55(3) (Decisions outside 
the Budget or Policy Framework). 

 
C.10 Cabinet decisions and/or actions to be taken which are not subject to Call-

in will take effect, i.e. be implemented immediately. 
 

C.11 Subject to the draw down rules in section A.2 of this Protocol, the 
Committee may only Call-in two decisions per three-month period.   

 
C.12 Key decisions of Officers, area committees/joint arrangements (referred to 

in the Cabinet's Forward Plan) may be subject to individual Call-in in 
accordance with the procedure detailed in this Protocol. 

 
C.13 Call-in will not apply to urgent departure decisions (refer to Standing Order 

55(3)) and urgent key decisions (refer to Standing Order 54(8)). 
 

C.14 The rules detailed in sections B and D of this Protocol will apply to an 
individual Call-in. 

 
C.15 A CCfA does not provide an additional opportunity for a Cabinet decision to 

be challenged.  A previous Call-in will only be relevant, if the circumstances 
of the Call-in and the CCfA are clearly different.  
 

C.16 The operation of this Call-in procedure will be monitored annually by the 
Monitoring Officer and if necessary, a report submitted to the GAC with 
proposals for review. 

 



 

November 2017 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

8 

  

D.Participants  
D.1 The nature of a Call-in, the item to be drawn down or the nature of the topic 

under scrutiny will generally determine who participates in the proceedings 
of the Committee. 
 

D.2 Persons required to attend if summoned  
 
Subject to the rules on participation at section D.7 of this Protocol, the 
giving of 14 clear days’ notice, (fourteen weekdays i.e. 14 periods of 24 
hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public 
holidays and the day on which the meeting is held) and information being 
provided as to the nature and scope of the scrutiny: 
 

 Cabinet members and Council Officers 
 
Cabinet members and Council Officers may be required to attend 
Committee meetings, to give evidence, make representations and/or 
answer questions ((Section 21(13) Local Government Act 2000). 
 

  
 Health Service scrutiny 

 
The Committee may require the attendance of any member or employee of 
a Responsible Person at the meeting of the Committee to answer 
questions (reg.27 Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing 
Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013). 
 

D.3 
 

 

 

 

 

D.3A 
 

Members of the community and other organisations/stakeholders etc.  
 

Members of the community and other organisations/stakeholders etc. may 
be invited (but cannot be compelled) to attend the Committee, to make 
representations, answer questions or give evidence.  
 
Where the Committee seeks to engage with the third sector (voluntary and 
community groups), it will respect the principles of the Council’s Compact. 
 
Lead Members  
 
Subject to the rules detailed in section D.7(a) to (c) of this Protocol, Lead 
Members who are members of the Committee may be requested (but 
cannot be compelled) to make representations, answer questions or give 
evidence on their respective portfolios.  
 
 

D.4 Expert advisors and assessors  
 
The Committee may consider the available options for future direction in 
the development of policies and may appoint experts, advisors and 
assessors to assist the Committee in the process. 
 

D.5 Councillors who are not members of the Committee 
 

The rules detailed in Standing Order 36, will apply to the attendance at 
Committee meetings, of Councillors who are not members of the 
Committee. 

 
D.6 The scrutiny of an item may need to be deferred pending the availability of 

a participant to attend, when summoned or invited.  In these 
circumstances, Member Services will advise the Committee Chairman 



 

November 2017 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

9 

accordingly. 
 

D.7 Participation Rules 
 

(a) The nomination of specific Cabinet members and Lead Members as 
participants and any necessary substitutions, will be within the 
discretion of the Cabinet Chairman and, in relation to Officer 
participants, within the discretion of the Managing Director. 

 
(b) Subject to paras. (a) and (c) of this section D.7 and section V.6 of this 

Protocol, any Lead Member(s) may attend meetings of the Committee 
and with the consent of the Chairman, make representations, answer 
questions or give evidence on the subject matter of their relevant 
portfolio.  

 
(c) Lead Members who are members of the Committee cannot be 

involved in the scrutiny process of their relevant portfolio unless they 
are substituted on the Committee and in doing so, the Lead Member’s 
role is limited to making representations, answering questions or giving 
evidence on the subject matter. Once substituted, the Lead Member, 
as an ordinary member of the Committee, cannot vote at the meeting 
even if he/she is able to attend at a later stage of the meeting and can 
only speak with the permission of the Chairman. 

 
(d) The Managing Director may restrict the attendance of Council Officers 

to above a certain grade or in accordance with other criteria to ensure 
that junior Officers are not put under undue pressure.  This restriction 
is consistent with the European Convention on Human Rights. 

(e) The Chairman and Shadow Chairman (collectively), reserve the right 
(supported by detailed reasoning to the Cabinet Chairman or 
Managing Director (as appropriate)), to strongly request the 
attendance of a named Cabinet member(s), Lead Members, Council 
Officer(s), and representative of the Responsible Person or relevant 
body, as participants in the proceedings of the Committee, subject to 
written notice to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th 
day before the Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen 
weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 24 hours running from midnight to 
midnight excluding bank and public holidays and the day on which the 
meeting is held). 

(f) Council Officers who are subject to disciplinary proceedings and/or 
investigation will not be called as participants. 

(g) When questioning participants, due regard will be had to the 
Compliance Principles referred to in this Protocol and to paras.(f) and 
(g) below.  Participants may leave the meeting on the conclusion of 
their particular issues. 

(h) Participants may decline to answer questions in open session of the 
Committee on the grounds that the answer might disclose information 
that would be exempt or confidential under the access to information 
provisions.  In that event, the Committee may resolve to exclude the 
public and the press in accordance with Standing Orders in order that 
the question may be answered in private session. 

(i) Participants are not obliged to answer any question which they would 
be entitled to refuse to answer in a court of law for example any 
question relating to a participant’s past conduct/actions which could 
not be answered without acknowledging or referring to possible 



 

November 2017 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

10

inappropriate conduct/actions/inactions. 

(j) To better inform the Committee, participants may be required to 
provide their evidence in writing and may be questioned by the 
Committee on that evidence. 

 
  
 (k) The substance (rather than the detail) of oral evidence and participants' 

responses will be documented by the Committee Co - ordinator and 
circulated to them for comment, before the next meeting of the 
Committee. 

 
 (l) Participants may be asked to explain: 

 
 (i) what the policies are; 

 
 (ii) the justification and objectives of those policies; 

 
 (iii) the extent to which those objectives may have been met; 

 
  (iv) how administrative factors may have affected both the choice of the 

policy measures and the manner of their implementation. 
 

(m) Participants may be asked explain and justify; 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• advice they have given prior to decisions being taken; 
• decisions they themselves have taken under delegations from the 

Cabinet etc. 
 
NB: far as possible, Council Officers should avoid being drawn into 

discussions on the merits of alternative policies where this is 
politically contentious.  Any comment by Council Officers on the 
Cabinet's policies and actions should always be consistent with the 
requirement for Officers to be politically neutral. 

  



 

November 2017 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

11

  

E. Councillor Calls for 
Action (CCfA) 

 

E.1 Subject to the ‘excluded matters’ rule detailed in section E.2 and the 
restrictions detailed in sections E4, E5, E7 and E10 of this Protocol, any 
ward Member may refer to the Committee for scrutiny, any local 
government matter. 
 
The flowchart at Annex 1 describes the CCfA procedure. 

 
E.2 Excluded matters 

A CCfA cannot be championed in relation to matters associated with crime 
and disorder, licensing, planning, or a matter where there is already a 
statutory right of review or appeal (other than the right to complain to the 
Local Government Ombudsman), or a matter which is vexatious, 
discriminatory or not reasonable to be included on the agenda for, or to be 
discussed at, a meeting of the Committee (reg. 3. of the Overview and 
Scrutiny (Reference by Councillors) (Excluded Matters) (England) Order 
2012).  
 

E.3 A matter does not fall within a description of an ‘excluded matter’ if it 
consists of an allegation that a function for which the Council is responsible 
has not been discharged at all or that its discharge has failed or is failing on 
a systematic basis, notwithstanding the fact that the allegation specifies or 
refers to an excluded matter. 

 
E.4 Referral of a genuine, significant and persistent local community concern 

by the local ward Member as a CCfA for scrutiny is a measure of last 
resort, once other approaches for informal resolution have been exhausted.  
Local ward Members are advised to seek advice from the relevant Director 
before agreeing to champion a CCfA. 
 

E.5 The CCfA may be referred for scrutiny on behalf of a constituent, or on the 
local ward Member’s own initiative, providing the local ward Member has 
the support of the local community and the Member does not have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest in the matter.   
 



 

November 2017 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

12

E.6 The Committee may receive a CCfA via the Cabinet in circumstances 
where the local ward Member has declined to champion the CCfA and the 
constituent has then referred the issue to the Cabinet.  
 

E.7 Subject to the draw down rules at section A.2 of this Protocol, the referral of 
a CCfA to the Committee will be limited to one CCfA per meeting.   

 
E.8 The referral of a CCfA to the Committee by a local ward Member will be on 

written notification to Member Services, by no later than noon on the 16th 
day before a Committee meeting, i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 
16 periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank 
and public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held). 

 
E.9 The rules relating to provision of information and request for participant 

attendance, at sections B and D of this Protocol will apply.  
 

E.10 The acceptance of a CCfA will be at the discretion of the Committee.  In 
considering whether or not to accept a CCfA, the Committee may have 
regard to any representations made by the local ward Member as to why it 
would be appropriate for the Committee to accept the CCfA. 

 
E.11 If the Committee decides not to accept the CCfA, Member Services will 

within 5 days’ of the meeting, formally notify the ward Member of the 
Committee’s decision and the reasons for it.  The Committee’s decision is 
final.  There is no right of appeal. 

 
E.12 The local ward Member may address the Committee (but not vote) on the 

matter raised.   
 

E.13 Following consideration of a CCfA, the Committee may report or 
recommend accordingly to the GAC and/or the Cabinet, the Responsible 
Person, Kent County Council etc.  The rules detailed in sections H and M of 
this Protocol, will apply.   
 

E.14 The Committee may submit a copy of its report or recommendations to the 
local ward Member or await the GAC’s/Cabinet’s and/or other relevant 
body’s response before doing so.   
 

  

F. Committee member 
business 

Subject to the rules on draw down detailed in section A.2 of this Protocol, 
any Committee or (sub-committee) member has the legal right [Section 
21A(1) Local Government Act 2000] to place any matter relevant to the 
Committee’s functions on the agenda.  This right will be exercised by giving 
written notice to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th day 
before a Committee meeting i.e.16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 
periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and 
public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held).   
 
The rules relating to provision of information and request for participant 
attendance, at sections B and D of this Protocol, will apply.  
 

  



 

November 2017 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

13

G. The duty to have 
regard to reports/ 
recommendations 

 
 

G.1 
When reviewing a decision made but not implemented, the Committee 
may recommend that the decision be reconsidered by the body that made 
it.  

 

G.2 
The Committee may by notice require the Responsible Person to respond 
to its Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations within 28 days (or as soon 
as reasonably possible) of the date of the Scrutiny Report, indicating what 
(if any) action the body proposes to take (reg. 22(7) of the Local Authority 
(Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013.  The same principles shall be applied to Cabinet and the 
GAC. 
 

  

G.3 
Where the Committee’s recommendations have not been accepted by the 
body concerned, clear reasons will be given.  Where recommendations 
have been agreed, but expectations have not been met, the issue may be 
re-addressed fully by the Committee. 
 

  

H. Health Service 
Scrutiny 

 ‘Local Healthwatch organisation and ‘Local Healthwatch contractor 
have the meaning in sections 222 and 223 of the Local Government 
and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (as amended); 

 ‘Referrer’ means a Local Healthwatch organisation or ‘Local 
Healthwatch contractor; 

 ‘Responsible Person’ means a NHS body or a relevant health service 
provider as defined in the National Health Service Act 2006. 

 
H.1 The Committee may scrutinise any matter relating to the planning, 

provision and operation of the health service in the Borough of Dartford 
(reg.21(1) Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and 
Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013). 
 



 

November 2017 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

14

H.2 When scrutinising the planning, provision and operation of the health 
service, the Committee must: 
 
 invite interested parties to comment (reg.21(2)(a) Local Authority (Public 

Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013); and 

 take account of relevant information available to it and in particular, 
relevant information provided by a Referrer (reg.21(2)(b) Local Authority 
(Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013). 

 
H.3 Where a matter is referred to the Committee by a Referrer, the Committee 

must acknowledge receipt of the referral within 20 working days beginning 
with the date on which the referral was made and keep the Referrer 
informed of any action taken in relation to the matter (reg.21(3) Local 
Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health 
Scrutiny) Regulations 2013). 
 

H.4 The Responsible Person must provide the Committee with such information 
as the Committee may reasonably require (reg.26 Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013). 
 

H.5 Subject to reasonable notice in accordance with section D.2 of this Protocol 
of this Protocol, the Committee may require the attendance of any member 
or employee of a Responsible Person at the meeting of the Committee to 
answer questions (reg.27 Local Authority (Public Health, Health and 
Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013). 

H.6 The Committee may make reports and recommendations to a Responsible 
Person on any matter it has reviewed (reg.22(1) Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013). 
 
Reports and recommendations must under reg.22(6) of the Local Authority 
(Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013 include: 
(a) an explanation of the matter reviewed; 
(b) a list of participants involved in the review; and 
(c) an explanation of any recommendations on the matter reviewed. 

H.7 Where the Committee requests a response from the Responsible Person, 
the Responsible Person must respond in writing within 28 days of the 
request (reg.22(7) Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing 
Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013). 

H.8 Other than in circumstances where there is a risk to the safety or welfare of 
patients or staff, a Responsible Person is required to consult with the 
Committee on any proposal for a substantial development or variation to 
the health service in the Borough of Dartford (reg.23 Local Authority 
(Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013). 

 



 

November 2017 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

15

 
H.9 The Committee may comment on the Responsible Person’s proposal by 

the date specified by the Responsible Person (reg.23(4) Local Authority 
(Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013). 
 

H.10 In addition to commenting, the Committee may recommend accordingly to 
the Responsible Person in accordance with section J.6 of this Protocol.  
Where the Responsible Person disagrees with the Committee’s 
recommendation, the Responsible Person must notify the Committee and 
the Committee and the Responsible Person must take such reasonable 
steps to try to reach agreement on the recommendation (reg.23(5) Local 
Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health 
Scrutiny) Regulations 2013). 
 

H11 Where the Committee is not satisfied that the Responsible Person has 
adequately consulted or the reasons given by it are not adequate, subject 
to complying with regs. 23(7), (8), (10) & (11) of the Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013, the Committee may report to the Secretary of State, who may direct 
accordingly (regs.23(9) and 25 Local Authority (Public Health, Health and 
Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013.   
 

J. Work programme 
 

J.1 
The Committee will be responsible for setting its own work programme and 
in doing so, will take into account wishes of Committee members who are 
not members of the largest political group on the Council. 
 

J.2 
Duplication of activities or major additions to the Committee’s work 
programme will be avoided. 
 

J.3 The Committee will receive an annual report on its workings and may make 
recommendations for future work programmes. 
 

  

K. Appointment of 
independent experts, 
advisers/assessors 

 

K.1 
Subject to available resources and GAC authority, the Committee may 
invite independent experts, advisers and assessors to contribute to the 
overview and scrutiny process undertaken by it, its sub-committees or task 
groups.  Independent experts, advisers and assessors will have no voting 
rights and will not count for the purposes of establishing a quorum. 
 

K.2 The criteria for selection will be; 
 
(a) candidates must be able to demonstrate to the Chairman an expert 

knowledge of the subject in question; 
(b) candidates will have no contact with the Borough Council, which could 

be seen as prejudicial to their independence; 
(c) candidates will not be employees of the Council, a person/organisation 

contracted to provide services on behalf of the Council or an 
employee, officer or member of the Kent County Council or the 
Responsible Person. 

 



 

November 2017 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

16

  
K.3 Independent experts, advisers and assessors will be expected to comply 

with the principles in the [Member] Code of Conduct, including the 
requirement to declare interests and respecting confidentiality. 
 

K.4 Independent experts, advisers and assessors will receive payment in 
accordance with a standard scale of fees, to be agreed by the Cabinet, plus 
travel and other reasonable/legitimate expenses. 
 

K.5 Independent experts, advisers and assessors may at the Committee’s 
discretion, remain in the meeting room when confidential and/or exempt 
information is being discussed. 
 

K.6 In considering independent experts’, advisers’ and assessors’ 
recommendations, the Committee will have regard to the advice of the 
Council's Statutory Officers (Chief Finance Officer/Section 151 Officer and 
Monitoring Officer) who are legally bound respectively, to report to the GAC 
on inter alia: 

  the corporate approach of the Council; 
 contravention of law and/or Standing Orders, Financial Regulations; 
 unlawfulness, maladministration or injustice; 
 vires and propriety of expenditure; 
 overall integrity of the budget, capital and revenue and the fiduciary duty 

and responsibility of all Members (Section 112 and 114 Reports). 
 
NB: The GAC retains the ultimate responsibility of censure. 
 

  
L. Scrutiny reports  
and//or 
recommendations 

 

L.1 All comments, conclusions and recommendations to the Responsible 
Person, GAC and/or Cabinet (referred to in this part of the Protocol as the 
‘relevant body’ will be accompanied by a Scrutiny Report prepared by the 
Committee Co-ordinator, in consultation with the appropriate Officer and 
the Committee Chairman under the existing rules for the preparation of 
committee reports. 
 

L.2 The Scrutiny Report will include: 
(a) an explanation of the matter scrutinised; 
(b) a summary of the evidence considered; 
(c) a list of the participants involved in the scrutiny exercise; 
(d) any recommendations on the matter scrutinised, including where 

applicable, an indication of the costs associated with implementing the 
recommendations; 

(e) a summary of the views of Members dissenting from the majority 
recommendation(s); 

(f)  the mechanism for monitoring progress in implementing the 
recommendation(s). 

 



 

November 2017 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

17

  
L.3 All motions (whether passed, rejected, opposed etc.) by the Committee will 

be detailed in the Scrutiny Report. 
 

L.4 The Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations will be published and sent to 
the link officer of the relevant body. 
 

L.5 Where requested by the Committee, a ‘relevant body’ is under an  
obligation in accordance with section H of this Protocol to consider the 
Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations and respond to the Committee 
within 28 days (or as soon as reasonably possible) of the date of the 
Scrutiny Report, indicating what (if any) action the body proposes to take.  
 

L.6 The Committee Chairman, may at the request of the ‘relevant body’, attend 
its meeting and present the Scrutiny Report and answer questions. 
 

L.7 If in disagreement with the decision of the Committee, any Councillor(s) 
who expresses a minority view, may through the Committee Chairman, 
refer a 'minority view' report to the ‘relevant body’ for consideration and 
provided they do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest or prejudicial 
interest in the matter under discussion, the Councillor may be requested to 
attend the body’s meeting and present their views and answer questions.   
 

L.8 If at all possible, Scrutiny Reports and/or recommendations should be 
included on the agenda of the next available meeting of the ‘relevant body’ 
unless the matter which is the subject of the Scrutiny Report and/or 
recommendations is scheduled to be considered by the ‘relevant body’ 
within a period of four weeks from the date the Committee issues the 
Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations.  In such circumstances, the 
Committee's Scrutiny Report/recommendations will be considered by the 
‘relevant body’ in the context of their deliberations on the substantive item 
on the body’s agenda. 
 

L.9 Only one Scrutiny Report per meeting of the ‘relevant body’ may be 
submitted by the Committee for consideration. 
 

L.10 Following receipt of the ‘relevant body’s’ response, the Committee may, by 
motion, move 'that the matter be referred back to the [named] ‘relevant 
body' either 'for further information' or 'for further consideration' or as the 
case may be, with an instruction that some specified action be taken or that 
the Committee considers that no further action is necessary. 
 

  
L.11 Scrutiny Reports and/or recommendations to the GAC will be copied to the 

Cabinet Chairman.  The GAC will not consider a Scrutiny Report and/or 
recommendations until the Cabinet has had the opportunity to comment. 
 

L.12 Local ward Members and other non - executive Councillors will have the 
opportunity at GAC meetings, to raise issues either through questions, 
motions or through policy and other debates.  
 

  



 

November 2017 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

18

M. Cabinet Key  
Decisions 

Where the Cabinet has decided not to include a particular decision in a 
Regulation 9 Notice, but the Committee believes that it should have been 
included, the Committee may require the Cabinet to make a report on the 
decision to the GAC in accordance with Standing Order 54(9).  The 
Committee's consideration of any such matter will be in public, but subject 
to the rules on confidential and exempt information. 
 

  

N. Monitoring Officer 
reports  

The Committee may consider whether it would be appropriate, following 
receipt of a Monitoring Officer report to the Cabinet (and copied to all 
Members of the Council), to hold a short enquiry into the matter which is 
the subject of the report prior to the Cabinet's consideration of it and to 
recommend accordingly to the Cabinet. 
 

  

P. Consideration of  
items at meetings 

 

P.1 Without prejudice to the rules detailed in Standing Orders on the 
consideration of urgent items, items will not be considered at a meeting of 
the Committee unless included on the agenda for the meeting.  The order 
of business will be as set out in Standing Order 58(10)(a)(i) to and 
including (iii) and the business as otherwise set out in the agenda in 
accordance with Standing Order 58(10)(a)(iv) will be in the order of: 
 

  Call – in; 
 

  decisions and/or actions of the Council, Cabinet and Officers; local 
health service body, Kent County Council; 

 
  local improvement targets; 

 
  MAA economic strategy action plans; 

 
  Draw downs; 

 
  CCfA; 

 
  Key Decisions; 

 
  any other local government matter related to the Council’s/Cabinet’s 

functions; 
 

  Officer decisions pursuant to Standing Order 38 (Delegation of Urgent 
and Routine Matters); 

 
  Minority member business; 

 
  Scrutiny Committee member business; 

 
  Monitoring progress of agreed actions; 

 
  Members’ Information Bulletin.  

 



 

November 2017 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

19

Q.2 The order of business may be altered by the Committee in accordance with 
the rules detailed in Standing Order 58(10)(b). 
 

Q.3 Cabinet decisions and Officer decisions under Standing Order 38 
(Delegation of Urgent and Routine Matters) and under the Scheme of 
Delegations to Officers, cannot be reversed or amended. 
 

Q.4 Voting Committee members have a right of access to exempt or 
confidential information considered by the Cabinet, but only if it is relevant 
to an issue(s) before the Committee (Standing Order 51(4)). 
 

Q.5 In exercising its powers, the Committee must respect, support and not 
compromise the duties and responsibilities of other Committees, Boards 
and Panels of the Council. If a scrutiny investigation reveals potential 
disciplinary and probity issues, the Committee will refer the matter to the 
Managing Director. 
 

Q.6 Litigation proceedings by or against the Council must not be prejudiced by 
any scrutiny investigation.  In the circumstances, it may be necessary to 
defer further consideration of the matter until the proceedings have been 
dispensed with. 
 

Q.7 Consultation undertaken by the Committee in accordance with its Terms of 
Reference will not compromise/prejudice consultations undertaken by any 
other Committee/Board of the Council.  
 

  

R. Conduct of  
meetings 

  
 

R.1 Meetings will be open to the public and the press unless confidential and/or 
exempt information is being considered.  The Access to Information 
Procedure Rules detailed in Standing Orders will apply. 
 

R.2 The access to information provisions relating to access to and inspection of 
agenda and connected reports and minutes as detailed in Standing Orders 
will apply. 
 

R.3 Minutes will be drawn up and recorded in accordance with the rules 
detailed in Standing Order 15. 
 

S. Task groups/ 
informal Member  
working group 

 

S.1 Task groups (or informal Member working groups) may be appointed at 
any time by the Committee to examine specific issues in detail.  Task 
groups will be time limited and will tend to work more flexibly and 
informally. 
 

S.2 The Committee may appoint any of its Members to work informally with 
other bodies or authorities etc., particularly in relation to external or cross-
authority scrutiny matters, where this will contribute to the Committee’s 
functions. 
 



 

November 2017 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

20

S.3 Whilst a task group cannot substitute for the Committee or exercise the 
formal powers associated respectively with overview and scrutiny (which is 
the preserve of the Committee and its sub-committees), the task group 
may contribute to or inform the overview or scrutiny process. 
 

S.4 Task groups will be made up of no less than 3 Committee members. The 
political balance rules need not apply. 
 

S.5 Because of the relative informality of task group meetings, and the 
evidence gathering nature of much of the discussion, chairing the meetings 
will involve different skills from those required by traditional committee 
meetings.  The task group Chairman will need to be sure that all task group 
members are clear about the purpose of the meeting and are given the 
opportunity to pursue a line of questioning – via a number of 
supplementary questions if necessary. 
 

S.6 The task group may obtain information through different media, including 
face-to-face interviews; questionnaires; focus groups; site visits; reports; 
and written submissions from participants. 

 
S.7 Participants will be offered the opportunity to comment on the accuracy of 

the record of their attendance.  
 

S.8 Once the evidence is taken, the Committee Co-ordinator will draft a report 
and recommendations to reflect the preliminary views of the task group.  
The draft report and recommendations will be agreed by the task group 
Chairman before it is circulated to the Cabinet Chairman and the Strategic 
Director for comment. 
 

S.9 The Committee will consider the task group’s report and/or 
recommendations and any comments from the Cabinet Chairman and/or 
Managing Director. 
 

S.10 The Committee will refer the task group’s report and/or recommendations 
to the relevant body i.e. Kent County Council, Responsible Person, GAC 
and/or Cabinet with a note of the debate and any changes arising from the 
debate. 
 

S.11 The Committee may refer the issue back to the task group for further 
consideration. 
 

T. Sub-committees  
T.1 The Committee may appoint sub-committees in accordance with the rules 

detailed in Standing Order 58(1)(4) and may delegate any of its functions 
to its sub-committees. 

 
T.2 Sub-committees may exercise the formal powers associated respectively 

with the scrutiny function. 
 

  
 



 

November 2017 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

21

U. Monitoring agreed 
actions 

 

U.1 Agreed actions will form the basis against which performance of the 
Council, Cabinet etc. will be measured.  Progress against action plans will 
be monitored through Covalent [the Council’s performance management 
system] and reported to the Committee annually. 
 

U.2 Where the Committee’s recommendations have not been accepted by the 
body concerned, clear reasons will be given.  Where recommendations 
have been agreed, but expectations have not been met, the issue may be 
re-addressed fully by the Committee. 
 

  
V. Declarations of  
interest 

 

V.1 Elected Councillors and voting co-optees are subject to the [Member] Code 
of Conduct. 
 

V.2 Representatives from the responsible authorities, co-operating body and 
other partner organisations are subject to their respective professional 
codes of conduct.  
 

V.3 Participants who are not bound by codes of conduct will be subject to the 
Nolan principles of transparency and accountability. 
 

V.4 All participants (including Council Officers) summoned or invited to attend 
Committee meetings, will declare any interests and the nature of the 
interests at the beginning of the meeting or as soon as the interests 
become apparent to them.  
 

V.5 No Committee members may be involved in scrutinising a decision in 
which they have been directly involved. 

V.6 With the exception of Cabinet members who are required to attend the 
Committee to give evidence in accordance with section D of this Protocol, 
any Member at the meeting (not restricted to members of the Committee) 
with a disclosable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest in a matter, may 
not take part in the discussion or remain in the meeting room or public 
gallery to observe the vote on the matter. 
 

  



 

November 2017 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

22

W. Regulatory bodies  
W.1 The Council discharges a number of regulatory functions such as 

development control, licensing and other quasi-judicial functions, which 
cannot be the responsibility of the Cabinet. 
 

W.2 The Committee will not scrutinise individual decisions made by the 
Committees, Boards and Panels entrusted to discharge the Council’s 
regulatory functions (the Regulatory Bodies).  Scrutiny of decisions of 
Regulatory Bodies is clearly not an alternative to normal appeals 
procedures.  However, the Committee may make reports and/or 
recommendations to the GAC relating to the discharge of any Regulatory 
Body’s functions. 
 

W.3 Scrutiny of the discharge of a Regulatory Body’s functions will be restricted 
to one per Committee meeting on notice by the Committee Chairman and 
the Shadow Chairman.  The rules detailed in section A. of this Protocol will 
apply.  
 

  

X. Review of this 
Protocol 

This Protocol will be reviewed on an annual basis or more frequently, if 
experience, circumstances and legislation highlight that amendments are 
required. 
 

  

 



 

November 2017 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

23

           ANNEX 1 
 

COUNCILLOR CALL FOR ACTION (CCfA) FLOWCHART 
 
CCfA request – local residents have concerns about significant and persistent problems in their area – they approach the local ward 
Member - local ward Member may also on their initiative, initiate a CCfA and gather support from their local community 

 
 
First level response 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
Second level response 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Third level response 
 
 
 
  
 
 
Fourth level response 
 
  
  
 
 
 
  
 
 
Fifth level response 
 
 
  
 
 

In consultation with relevant Director, local ward Member considers 
whether to agree to champion or reject the CCfA - Log request 

Concern not resolved – as last resort, concern referred to 
Scrutiny Committee   

Scrutiny Committee rejects CCFA (see 
Committee’s Protocol for procedure) Scrutiny Committee accepts CCfA and considers 

issue in accordance with Committee’s Protocol 

Scrutiny Committee compiles report and 
recommendations to Cabinet/GAC, local health 
service body, KCC etc. (refer to Committee’s 
Protocol) 

Local ward Member notified 
with written reasons 

Cabinet/GAC, NHS body and KCC etc. consider 
recommendations and respond within 2 months, 
setting out reasons for any inaction 

Scrutiny Committee considers and publishes 
responses to scrutiny recommendations Feedback to local ward Member  

Before agreeing, Director to 
undertake screening/filter 
checks (section 6 of Guide) 

Refuse to champion  and 
provide constituent/local ward 
Member with written reasons for 
refusal 

 

Agree to champion 

First attempt to resolve the concerns informally in consultation 
with relevant parties e.g. Lead Member, CDRP etc. (section 
11 of Guide) – Log attempt to resolve Concern resolved  





APPENDIX C
D A R T F O R D   B O R O U G H   C O U N C I L

ANNUAL MEETING
9 May 2018

STANDING COMMITTEES, BOARDS AND PANELS
OF THE COUNCIL

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
[REPORTING TO COUNCIL unless otherwise stated in these Terms of 
Reference]

Chairman: Councillor J S Hawkes
Vice-Chairman: Councillor M J Davis
Membership: Councillors A Bardoe, J Burrell, R M Currans, P Cutler, 

J A Hayes, S R Jarnell, J Jones, M B Kelly, C S McLean, 
M A Maddison, J A Ozog, J M Ozog, D J Reynolds, A S 
Sandhu MBE and Mrs R F Storey.

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
[REPORTING TO COUNCIL unless otherwise stated in these Terms of Reference]

TERMS OF REFERENCE:
DELEGATED FUNCTIONS:

1. To perform the scrutiny functions on behalf of the Council within the guidelines detailed in 
the Committee's Protocol;

2. To submit reports to the Council on the following;

(a) any Cabinet decision which is likely to give rise to expenditure or savings above such 
thresholds as agreed by the Council;

(b) matters of local concern which are not the responsibility of the Council but which 
nevertheless affect the Borough and/or its inhabitants;

(c) a Cabinet decision which is likely to have a significant impact on two or more Wards;

(d) a non-urgent departure decision(s) which is;

(i) a Cabinet decision(s) (not yet implemented) which is contrary to the policy 
framework/budget;

(ii) a Cabinet decision(s) (which has been implemented) and which is considered to 
be contrary to the policy framework/budget).

NB: The Council has no locus to make a decision in respect of a Cabinet decision 
unless the Cabinet decision is contrary to or not wholly consistent with the budget 
or policy framework approved/adopted by the Council. 

3. To appoint in accordance with Standing Order 58(4) such sub-committee(s) as the 
Committee considers appropriate to fulfil the scrutiny functions of the Committee.



4. To hold the Cabinet to account for the discharge of its executive functions by scrutinising 
decisions proposed and/or action to be taken in accordance with the Call-in mechanism 
detailed in the Committee's Protocol.

5. To hold the Cabinet to account for the discharge of its executive functions by scrutinising 
decisions after implementation i.e. post decision scrutiny, in accordance with the 
Committee's Protocol for the following purposes only:

(a) to seek more understanding of the decision and its implications;

(b) to question the soundness of the decision;

(c) to identify the need for Council policies to guide delegated decisions;

(d) to examine the effect and outcomes of the decision e.g. enquire into grants awarded 
by the Cabinet to voluntary organisations in the Borough to see how effectively 
expenditure has been targeted;

(e) to make recommendations, including proposals for changes to policies or practices, 
to the Cabinet.

NB: A decision(s) may only be scrutinised once.

6. To scrutinise the discharge of any other functions of the Council in accordance with the 
mechanism(s) detailed in the Committee's Protocol.

7. To report to the Cabinet and/or the Council in accordance with the Committee’s Protocol 
on matters of local concern.

8. To seek comments from other Committees/Boards in order to obtain a balanced view of 
the effects of Council policy and Cabinet decisions.

9. Where appropriate, and as part of the community consultation process, to seek input from 
Councillors (including Members of the Cabinet), Officers, other interested stakeholders 
and organisations and by drawing on the knowledge of constituents’ views.

10. To receive finalised documents relating to a key decision(s) in the Cabinet's forward plan.

11. To scrutinise Cabinet forward plans with a view to deciding which, if any, of the forthcoming 
Cabinet decisions the Committee wishes to enquire into.

12. To report annually to the Council on the work of the Committee.

13. To consider Monitoring Officer reports about lawfulness or maladministration, which relate 
to Cabinet functions and consider whether to hold a short enquiry into the matter the 
subject of the report prior to the Cabinet's consideration of it.

14. To approve an annual scrutiny work programme in accordance with Standing Order 58(8) 
including the programme of any sub-committee appointed by the Committee to ensure that 
there is efficient use of the Committee's (sub-committee's) time and that the potential for 
duplication of effort is minimised.

15. Health Scrutiny Functions



To scrutinise any matter relating to the planning, provision and operation of the health 
service in the Borough of Dartford, in accordance with the Local Authority (Public Health, 
Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013.

16. Discussion/Consultation Papers

To respond to discussion/consultation papers relating to matters connected/associated 
with the functions of the Committee (i.e. scrutiny) in accordance with the procedure set out 
in the Appendix to these Terms of Reference.

17. Councillor Calls for Action

To consider any local government matter relevant to the Council’s functions (other than 
crime and disorder) referred to the Committee by a local ward Member, under the 
Councillor Call for Action provisions in the Committee’s Protocol. 

NB: the matter must be a genuine, significant and persistent community concern referred 
to the Committee as a last resort, because the usual channels for raising the concern e.g. 
Council Officers, Cabinet, partner organisations etc. have been unsuccessful.  





SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
10 July 2018

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PLAN 2018-19

1. Summary

To identify further items for inclusion in the Committee’s current Work Plan 
for the remainder of the 2018–19 municipal year and to allocate a timeframe 
accordingly.

2. RECOMMENDATION

That the Committee considers the draft Work Plan (attached as Appendix A) 
and identifies further topics for inclusion as appropriate. 

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 The Scrutiny Committee’s Terms of Reference (ToRs) make provision 
for the Committee to approve an Annual Scrutiny Work Programme 
and to allocate a timeframe for its consideration in a Work Plan to be 
reviewed and updated at each subsequent meeting of the Committee.

3.2 In setting its own Work Programme and Plan the Committee will take 
into account the minority interest views held by Members on the 
Committee.

3.3 The Work Programme as detailed in the Plan should ensure that there 
is efficient use of the Committee’s time and that the potential for 
duplication of effort is minimised, especially with regard to the remits 
of the Crime and Disorder (Overview & Scrutiny) and the Policy 
Overview Committees, as set out in their respective Committee 
Protocols. 

3.3 In considering whether a particular topic or function should be 
included in the Committee’s Work Programme and Plan, Members 
need to be mindful of the following:

(1) That the primary role of the Committee is to scrutinise 
decisions of the Cabinet that have either been taken or which are 
included in the Regulation 9 Notices for future consideration by 
Cabinet;
(2) That although the nature of the scrutiny will generally dictate 
who participates in the discussion process, inviting participation 
by other councils to give their experiences is not a scrutiny 
function; but one for the Policy Overview Committee which 
undertakes the overview function; to better inform future policy 
options for the Council;



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
10 July 2018

(3) That discussions on policy statements also fall to the Policy 
Overview Committee to consider who hold the overview function, 
not the Scrutiny Committee; and 
(4) That matters relating to crime and disorder, including anti-
social behaviour (ASB) and Community Safety, fall within the 
remit of the Crime and Disorder (Overview & Scrutiny) 
Committee.

3.4

3.5 

The Draft Work Plan (attached Appendix A) will be subject to review 
at each meeting of the Committee during the current 2018-19 
municipal cycle, to allow new items to be added, or the timing of 
existing items altered. 

Work Plan items may be supplemented with additional items on an 
ad-hoc basis prior to scheduled meetings commencing; with the 
approval of the Managing Director as the Responsible Council Officer 
and within the provisions and timescales of the Draw-Down process; 
as set out in the Committee’s Protocol.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None
Legal Implications None
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Appendices

Appendix A: Scrutiny Committee Work Plan 2018-19 

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File 
Ref

Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Committee 
Minutes, ToRs,
Protocol

June 
2018

David Hook
Member Services 
(01322 343276)

Member 
Services 
MD

N/A



Appendix A 

Draft SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PLAN 2018-19

10 July 2018 18 September 2018 20 November 2018 19 February 
2019

Draw-Down
Funding of Dartford 

Churches Winter 
Shelter

Draw-Down(s) – 
t.b.a.

Orchard Theatre 
Annual Report & 

Accounts ending 31 
March 2018

Princes Park 
Annual Update

Scrutiny Committee 
Annual Report 

2017-18

Annual Report from 
Dartford Cricket 

Club

Draw-Down(s) – 
t.b.a.

Review of 2018-19
Work Plan

Review Work Plan
2018-19

Draw-Down(s) – 
t.b.a.

Consider Work 
Programme for 

2019-20

Reg. 9 Notice Reg. 9 Notice Review 2018-19 
Work Plan

Reg.9 Notice

Reg. 9 Notice




	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 17 April 2018
	7 Regulation 9 Notice
	Plan

	9 Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2017-18
	App. A - Scrutiny Committee DRAFT Annual Report 2017-18
	Appendix B Scrutiny Committee Protocol November 2017
	Appendix C - ScrutinyTORs 9 May 2018

	10 Scrutiny Work Programme 2018-19
	AppendixA draft Scrutiny Committee WorkPlan 2018-19


